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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), which statements involve substantial
risk and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future financial or operating performance. In some cases, you can
identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend,” “target,”
“project,” “contemplate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions
that concern our expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include
statements about:
• our future financial performance, including our revenues, cost of revenues, gross profit or gross margin and operating expenses and free cash flow;
• the sufficiency of our cash, cash equivalents and investments to meet our liquidity needs;
• our ability to achieve or maintain profitability;
• our ability to effectively manage our growth and future expenses;
• our investment strategy, business strategy and growth strategy, including the use of acquisitions to grow our business;
• the impact of our acquisitions and our ability to successfully integrate acquired businesses;
• management’s plans, beliefs and objectives for future operations;
• our expectations about competition and our ability to compete effectively;
• our ability to attract new customers, cross-sell or upsell our existing customers and develop new products;
• our ability to continue to build our direct sales organization and expand our network of channel partners;
• our ability to successfully expand in our existing markets and into new markets;
• our anticipated investments in sales and marketing and research and development;
• our ability to maintain our brand;
• our ability to offer high-quality customer support;
• our ability to manage our global operations;
• our ability to maintain the security and availability of our platform and products;
• potential harm caused by significant disruptions of service, or the actual or perceived failure of our products to prevent security incidents;
• our ability to prevent serious errors or defects across, and to otherwise maintain the interrupted operation of our network;
• our ability to maintain, protect and enhance our intellectual property;
• our expectations of the impact of, and our ability to comply with existing, modified or new laws and regulations applicable to our business;
• our ability to correctly estimate our tax obligations;
• the impact of macroeconomic factors including COVID-19, the conflict in Ukraine, inflation, and government actions to counter inflation; and
• our ability to successfully defend litigation brought against us.
We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations, and prospects. The outcomes of the events described in these forward-looking statements are
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subject to risks, uncertainties, and other factors described in the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible
for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
The forward-looking statements made in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q relate only to events as of the date on which the statements are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or
to reflect new information or the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions, or
expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Our forwardlooking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, or investments we may make.
You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on March 10, 2022.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Information
KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
June 30, 2022

December 31, 2021

(unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Current portion of deferred commissions
Prepaid and other current assets
Total current assets

$

Deferred commissions, net of current portion
Capitalized software and content, net
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right of use assets, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other assets

315,495
62,486
19,377
17,646
415,004

$

38,301
29,903
10,056
14,080
8,009
88,173
2,884

Total assets
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Current portion of deferred revenue
Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Total current liabilities

606,410

$

537,678

$

39,798
215,631
3,274
258,703

$

37,642
184,496
2,938
225,076

Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, and 0 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2022 and December 31,
2021
Common stock, Class A, $0.00001 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized; and 78,178,186 and 66,335,930 shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively
Common stock, Class B, $0.00001 par value, 500,000,000 shares authorized; and 97,492,186 and 107,936,779 shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

1

33,869
27,074
9,120
12,998
7,992
89,329
1,080

$

Non-current liabilities:
Deferred revenue, net of current portion
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

273,723
54,071
17,842
10,580
356,216

95,900
11,275
4,012
369,890

81,278
10,484
3,573
320,411

—

—

1

1

1
407,620
(168,440)
(2,662)
236,520

2
391,803
(173,148)
(1,391)
217,267

606,410

$

537,678
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KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Revenues, net
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense)
Income (loss) before income tax expense
Income tax expense

$

Net income (loss)

$

Net income (loss) per share, basic

$

0.02

$

(0.14) $

0.03

$

(0.24)

Net income (loss) per share, diluted

$

0.02

$

(0.14) $

0.03

$

(0.24)

Weighted-average shares used in calculating basic net
income (loss) per share
Weighted-average shares used in calculating diluted net
income (loss) per share

80,762
10,909
69,853

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

34,684
8,764
23,587
67,035
2,818

59,350
8,591
50,759

$

155,795
21,054
134,741

31,510
6,760
28,284
66,554
(15,795)

503
(65)
264
3,520
(172)
3,348 $

$

65,431
17,673
46,227
129,331
5,410

7
(66)
(416)
(16,270)
(593)
(16,863) $

112,900
15,934
96,966
54,581
12,502
42,913
109,996
(13,030)

533
(151)
(274)
5,518
(810)
4,708 $

25
(262)
(559)
(13,826)
(837)
(14,663)

175,293,173

122,273,944

174,909,849

61,136,973

182,220,649

122,273,944

182,229,908

61,136,973

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Net income (loss)
$
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Net change in foreign currency translation adjustments
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
$
Total comprehensive income (loss)

3,348

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

$

(16,863) $

(1,757)
(1,757)
1,591 $

284
284
(16,579) $

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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4,708

$

(14,663)

(1,271)
(1,271)
3,437 $

85
85
(14,578)
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KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except shares)
(unaudited)

For the three months ended June 30, 2022:

Common Stock, Class A
Shares
Amount
Balance, March 31, 2022
Issuance of common stock for exercise
of stock options
Issuance of common stock under the
employee stock purchase plan
Issuance of common stock upon
settlement of restricted stock units
Conversion of Common stock, Class B
to Common stock, Class A
Taxes paid related to net share
settlement of equity awards
Stock compensation expense
Other comprehensive loss, net
Net income
Balance, June 30, 2022

72,909,377

$

Common Stock, Class B
Shares
Amount
101,903,213

—

—

434,092

—

1,175

—

—

1,175

193,595

—

—

—

2,932

—

—

2,932

338,568

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

4,845,119

—

(4,845,119)

(1)

—

—

—

(1)

—
—
—
—
1

—
—
—
—
97,492,186

—
—
—
—
1

$

4

2

Total
225,095

1

(108,473)
—
—
—
78,178,186 $

$

Accumulated
Other
Additional Paid Comprehensive
Accumulated
In Capital
(Loss)
Deficit
$
397,785 $
(905) $
(171,788) $

$

(1,818)
7,546
—
—
407,620 $

—
—
(1,757)
—
(2,662) $

—
—
—
3,348
(168,440) $

(1,818)
7,546
(1,757)
3,348
236,520
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KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except shares)
(unaudited)

For the three months ended June 30, 2021:
Convertible Preferred
Stock
Shares
Balance, March 31, 2021

Amount

114,164,600

$

Issuance of common
stock for exercise of
stock options
—
Repurchase of common
stock
—
Conversion of
convertible preferred
stock and previously
authorized Common
Stock to Common
Stock, Class B
(114,164,600)
Issuance of common
stock in connection
with initial public
offering, net of
underwriting
discounts and
issuance costs
—
Issuance of common
stock upon settlement
of restricted stock
units
—
Conversion of Common
stock, Class B to
Common stock, Class
A
—
Taxes paid related to net
share settlement of
equity awards
—
Stock compensation
expense
—
Other comprehensive
income, net
—
Net loss
—
Balance, June 30, 2021

—

$

Common Stock
Shares

Common Stock, Class A

Amount

—

43,701,560

—
—

$

Shares

Amount

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(43,701,560)

—

Shares

Amount

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

—

605

—

—

605

—

—

680

—

—

680

—

157,866,160

2

—

—

—

2

10,425,000

—

—

—

153,796

—

—

153,796

—

949,815

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

758,452

—

(758,452)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(423,865)

—

—

—

(6,782)

—

—

(6,782)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

18,500

—

—

18,500

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
11,709,402

—
—
—

—
—
157,697,645

—
—
2

—
—
$ 351,124

5

$

(538) $ (159,103) $

Total

589,937

$

$

Accumulated
Deficit

$ 184,325

$

$

Additional
Paid In
Capital

—

$

$

Common Stock, Class B

24,684

284
—
284
—
(16,863)
(16,863)
(254) $ (175,966) $ 174,906
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KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except shares)
(unaudited)

For the six months ended June 30, 2022:
Common Stock, Class A
Shares
Amount
Balance, December 31, 2021
Issuance of common stock for exercise
of stock options
Issuance of common stock under the
employee stock purchase plan
Issuance of common stock upon
settlement of restricted stock units
Conversion of Common stock, Class B
to Common stock, Class A
Taxes paid related to net share
settlement of equity awards
Stock compensation expense
Other comprehensive loss, net
Net income
Balance, June 30, 2022

66,335,930

$

Common Stock, Class B
Shares
Amount
$

Total
217,267

1

107,936,779

—

—

963,004

—

2,222

—

—

2,222

193,595

—

—

—

2,932

—

—

2,932

354,443

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

11,407,597

—

(11,407,597)

(1)

—

—

—

(1)

(113,379)
—
—
—
78,178,186 $

—
—
—
—
1

—
—
—
—
97,492,186

—
—
—
—
1

$

6

2

Accumulated
Other
Additional Paid Comprehensive
Accumulated
In Capital
(Loss)
Deficit
$
391,803 $
(1,391) $
(173,148) $

$

(1,985)
12,648
—
—
407,620 $

—
—
(1,271)
—
(2,662) $

—
—
—
4,708
(168,440) $

(1,985)
12,648
(1,271)
4,708
236,520
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KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in thousands, except shares)
(unaudited)

For the six months ended June 30, 2021:
Convertible Preferred
Stock
Shares

Amount

Balance, December 31,
2020
114,164,600 $
Issuance of common
stock for exercise of
stock options
—
Issuance of common
stock for business
combinations
—
Repurchase of common
stock
—
Conversion of
convertible preferred
stock and previously
authorized Common
Stock to Common
Stock, Class B
(114,164,600)
Issuance of common
stock in connection
with initial public
offering, net of
underwriting
discounts and
issuance costs
—
Issuance of common
stock upon settlement
of restricted stock
units
—
Conversion of Common
stock, Class B to
Common stock,
Class A
—
Taxes paid related to net
share settlement of
equity awards
—
Stock compensation
expense
—
Other comprehensive
income, net
—
Net loss
—
Balance, June 30, 2021

—

$

Common Stock
Shares

Common Stock, Class A

Amount

—

42,279,000

—

$

Shares

Amount

—

—

274,720

—

—

1,245,440

—

Shares

Amount

—

—

—

—

—

—

(97,600)

—

—

(43,701,560)

—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

—

952

—

—

952

—

—

—

24,675

—

—

24,675

—

—

—

—

(181)

—

—

(181)

—

—

—

157,866,160

2

—

—

—

2

—

—

10,425,000

—

—

—

153,796

—

—

153,796

—

—

—

949,815

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

758,452

—

(758,452)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(423,865)

—

—

—

(6,782)

—

—

(6,782)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

20,181

—

—

20,181

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
11,709,402

—
—
—

—
—
157,697,645

—
—
2

—
—
$ 351,124

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(339) $

85
—
(254) $

(161,303) $

Total

589,937

$

$

Accumulated
Deficit

$ 158,483

$

$

Additional
Paid In
Capital

—

$

$

Common Stock, Class B

(3,159)

—
85
(14,663)
(14,663)
(175,966) $ 174,906
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KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)
(unaudited)

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Additions to capitalized content
Depreciation and amortization expense
Deferred commissions amortization
Stock compensation expense
Other, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of business combinations:
Accounts receivable
Deferred commissions
Prepaid and other assets
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Business combinations, net of cash acquired
Purchases of investments
Purchases of property and equipment
Capitalized internal-use software costs
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under the employee stock purchase plan
Repurchases of common stock
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock
Acquisition-related contingent consideration payments
Payments for finance lease obligations
Taxes paid for the net share settlement of equity awards
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

$

$
$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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4,708

$

(14,663)

(2,817)
7,655
10,733
12,608
(1,002)

(2,619)
6,600
8,735
20,481
400

(8,740)
(17,491)
(6,611)
1,983
46,367
47,393

(2,741)
(14,386)
(8,279)
10,021
32,397
35,946

40
(2,375)
(2,621)
(2,260)
(7,216)

(11,323)
—
(1,055)
(1,121)
(13,499)

2,222
2,932
—
—
—
(21)
(1,985)
3,148
(1,553)
41,772 $
273,723 $
315,495 $

952
—
(1,171)
155,958
(375)
(20)
(6,782)
148,562
465
171,474
85,582
257,056

KNOWBE4, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES
(in thousands)
(unaudited)
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for taxes

$

949

$

1,397

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:
Capital expenditures and other assets included in accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

926

$

955

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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KNOWBE4, INC.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1 – Description of Business

KnowBe4, Inc. (“KnowBe4” or the “Company”), was incorporated in Delaware in January 2016 and is the successor to operations which began in
August 2010. The Company is currently headquartered in Clearwater, Florida.
The Company provides a comprehensive platform incorporating security awareness training and simulated phishing with advanced analytics and
reporting that helps organizations manage the ongoing problem of social engineering. Additional offerings on the Company’s platform include a security
orchestration, automation and response (“SOAR”) tool, a governance, risk and compliance (“GRC”) product, and comprehensive compliance training, all
of which further the Company’s goal of providing products focused on meeting the needs of information security professionals. KnowBe4 conducts
business globally and its platform is available as a software as a service (“SaaS”) subscription.
Stock Split
On April 9, 2021, the Company effected a 40-for-1 forward stock split of its authorized, issued and outstanding capital stock. All share and per share
amounts presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively adjusted to reflect the forward stock split for all
periods presented.
Initial Public Offering
As further described in Note 11 “Stockholders’ Equity”, in April 2021, the Company completed an initial public offering (“IPO”) of its Class A
common stock.
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KNOWBE4, INC.

Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
a.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes include the accounts of KnowBe4, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
The accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2022 and the consolidated statements of operations, consolidated statements of
comprehensive income (loss), consolidated statements of stockholders' equity for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 and consolidated
statements of cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 are unaudited.
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”) for interim financial
information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the financial information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. In
the opinion of the Company’s management, the unaudited consolidated financial statements include all adjustments necessary for the fair presentation of
the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2022, and its consolidated statements of operations, consolidated statements of comprehensive
income (loss), consolidated statements of stockholders' equity for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 and its consolidated statements of
cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The
results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any subsequent quarter or for the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2022. The accompanying interim unaudited consolidated financial statements and related financial information should be
read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2021.
b. Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates and assumptions used by
management primarily affect revenue recognition, deferred commissions, fair value of net assets acquired in business combinations, common stock
valuations (prior to the IPO), and stock compensation expense.
These estimates are based on information available as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates
these assumptions, judgments and estimates. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates.
c. Operating Segments
The Company operates as a single operating segment, which engages in the development, marketing and sale of the Company’s SaaS-based security
awareness platform. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is evaluated regularly by the
chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. The Company’s chief operating decision maker is the Chief
Executive Officer, who is responsible for evaluating the Company’s financial results, evaluating the Company’s resources and assessing the performance of
the operations on a consolidated basis.
d. Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all investments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents
include $203.1 million and $180.2 million of overnight money market mutual funds at June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, respectively. The carrying
amount of such cash equivalents approximates their fair value due to the short-term and highly liquid nature of these instruments.
e. Accounts Receivable, Net
Accounts receivable represents amounts owed to the Company for subscriptions to the Company’s platform and unbilled receivables representing the
Company’s unconditional right to consideration for subscription contracts for
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which revenues have been earned in excess of the amount invoiced. Accounts receivable balances are recorded at the invoiced amount and are non-interest
bearing.
The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based on future expected credit losses measured over the contractual term of the
receivable. Management regularly reviews the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts by considering various factors including the age of each
outstanding invoice, each customer’s expected ability to pay, historical loss rates and expectations of forward-looking loss estimates to determine whether
the allowance is appropriate. The Company writes off accounts receivable balances to the allowance for doubtful accounts when the Company has
exhausted all collection efforts. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 the allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.5 million, and allowance activity
for the periods presented was not material to the consolidated financial statements.
f. Deferred Commissions
The Company capitalizes sales commissions and associated benefits and payroll taxes paid to internal sales personnel that are considered incremental
costs to acquire a customer contract. These costs are classified as deferred commissions on the consolidated balance sheets. Sales commissions related to an
initial subscription contract are considered incremental to the acquisition of the customer contract to the extent that they exceed commissions earned on
renewal sales. Sales commissions related to the renewal of a subscription contract are not considered commensurate with the commissions paid for the
acquisition of the initial subscription contract given the substantive difference in commission rate between new and renewal contracts. The portion of
commissions paid upon the initial acquisition of a contract that are incremental to acquisition of the customer contract are amortized over an estimated
period of benefit of six years. The portion of commissions paid upon initial acquisition that are commensurate with those paid on a renewal contract and
commissions paid related to renewal contracts are amortized over the average length of the related revenues contract. An estimate of the portion of
commissions related to the downloadable content performance obligation is made, which is recognized at contract inception consistent with the pattern of
revenue recognition. The estimated period of benefit for commissions paid for the acquisition of the initial subscription contract is determined based on
qualitative and quantitative factors including the initial estimated customer life, the technological life of the Company’s platform and related significant
features, customer attrition and industry practices. Amortization of deferred sales commissions is included in sales and marketing expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
g. Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
lives of the assets, as follows:
Computers and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

3 years
5 - 7 years
shorter of lease term or 5 years

Expenditures which significantly add to productive capacity or extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs to property
and equipment are expensed as incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation is removed from the
accounts and gains or losses, if any, are recorded in other income (expenses).
h. Capitalized Software and Content, Net
The Company capitalizes costs incurred related to the development of internal use software during the application development stage. These
capitalized costs are primarily related to the development of the Company’s security awareness platform. Costs are capitalized to develop new internal use
software or to significantly increase the functionality of existing software. Additionally, the Company records acquired internal-use software and
technology assets within the capitalized software and content caption on its consolidated balance sheets. Capitalized software costs are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the software’s estimated useful life of three to six years. Management evaluates the useful lives of these assets on an annual basis
and tests for impairment whenever events
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or changes in circumstances occur that could impact the recoverability of these assets. There were no impairments of capitalized internal use software
during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 or 2021.
The Company also capitalizes costs related to the production of its training content, which includes interactive modules, movie series, videos, games
and other content. Costs associated with the production of content, including development costs, direct costs and production overhead, are capitalized.
Capitalized content is amortized over the estimated period of use, which generally ranges from three to seven years. The Company’s business model is
subscription based, therefore, capitalized content is reviewed in the aggregate when an event or change in circumstances indicates a change in the expected
usefulness of the content. To date, we have not identified any such event or change in circumstances. If such changes are identified in the future, capitalized
content will be stated at the lower of unamortized cost, net realizable value or fair value. In addition, unamortized costs for assets that have been, or are
expected to be, abandoned are written off.
i.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the estimated fair value of identifiable net assets acquired. The
Company evaluates and tests the recoverability of goodwill for impairment at least annually, on October 1, or more frequently if circumstances indicate that
goodwill may not be recoverable. The Company performs the impairment testing by first assessing qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of
events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of its single reporting unit is less than its carrying amount.
In assessing the qualitative factors, the Company considers the impact of certain key factors including macroeconomic conditions, industry and market
considerations, changes in management, litigation or regulatory matters, changes in enterprise value, and overall financial performance. If, after assessing
the totality of events or circumstances, the Company determines it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying
amount, the Company calculates the estimated fair value of the reporting unit and any excess of the carrying amount over fair value is recognized as a
goodwill impairment loss. Based on the results of the qualitative goodwill impairment analyses, the Company has determined there were no triggering
events indicating impairment of goodwill during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.
Intangible assets consist of both definite-lived intangible assets, primarily acquired content, customer relationships, patents, trademarks and domain
names, and indefinite-lived trade name intangible assets. Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:
Acquired content
Customer relationships
Other Intangibles
Patents

3 - 4 years
4 - 6 years
3 - 10 years
20 years

j. Impairment of Intangible and Other Long-Lived Assets
The Company performs an impairment review of long-lived assets, including property and equipment and both definite and indefinite-lived intangible
assets, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable, in accordance with the respective accounting
standards. If the Company determines that the carrying value of an asset group may not be recoverable, the Company measures recoverability by
comparing the carrying amount of the asset group to the future undiscounted cash flows it expects the asset group to generate. If the Company considers
any of these assets to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized equals the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value. In
addition, the Company periodically evaluates the estimated remaining useful lives of long-lived assets to determine whether events or changes in
circumstances warrant a revision to the remaining period of depreciation or amortization. No impairment indicators were identified and no impairment
charges were recorded during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 or 2021.
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k. Leases
The Company determines whether an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception and classifies its leases at commencement. Operating leases with
initial terms of twelve months or greater are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and operating lease liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets.
ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use underlying assets over the term of the lease and lease liabilities represent the Company’s contractual
obligation to make lease payments over the lease term. Operating lease ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date based on
the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. Operating lease ROU assets also include any unamortized initial direct costs and any
prepayments less any unamortized lease incentives received. As the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate for use in determining the present
value of future payments, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate. Options to extend or terminate a lease are included in the ROU asset and lease
liability when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise the option.
Lease expense for minimum lease payments for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in operating
expenses within the consolidated statements of operations. Variable lease costs represent non-lease components, namely common area maintenance and
taxes, that are not fixed and are expensed as incurred.
l. Income Taxes
The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which
the differences are expected to reverse.
The Company’s tax positions are subject to income tax audits by certain tax jurisdictions throughout the world. The Company recognizes the tax
benefit of an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the position will be sustainable upon examination by the taxing authority. The tax
benefit recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit which is greater than 50 percent likely to be realized upon settlement with the taxing
authority. The Company recognizes interest accrued and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the income tax provision.
Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts that are more likely than not expected to be realized
based on the weighting of positive and negative evidence. Future realization of deferred tax assets ultimately depends on the existence of sufficient taxable
income of the appropriate character (for example, ordinary income or capital gain) within the carryback or carryforward periods available under the
applicable tax law. The Company regularly reviews the deferred tax assets for recoverability based on historical taxable income, projected future taxable
income, the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences and tax planning strategies. The Company’s judgments regarding future
profitability may change due to many factors, including future market conditions and the ability to successfully execute its business plans and/or tax
planning strategies. Should there be a change in the ability to recover deferred tax assets, the tax provision would increase or decrease in the period in
which the assessment is changed.
m. Foreign Currency Transactions
The functional currency of the Company’s subsidiaries is determined based on the primary economic environment in which the subsidiary operates.
Assets and liabilities of its non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates in effect at the end of each
period and revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange rate for the period. Gains and losses from these translations are recognized as
cumulative translation adjustments and included in accumulated other comprehensive loss.
The Company remeasures monetary assets and liabilities that are not denominated in the functional currency at average exchange rates in effect during
each period. Gains and losses from these remeasurement adjustments are recognized within other income (expense).
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n. Revenue Recognition
The Company derives substantially all of its revenues from subscription services fees paid by customers for access to the Company’s cloud-based
platform and content. The Company applies the following five-step approach for considering contracts:
•

identification of the contract, or contracts, with the customer;

•

identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

•

determination of the transaction price;

•

allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

•

recognition of revenues when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company recognizes revenues at the time the related performance obligation is satisfied by transferring the service to a customer in an amount that
reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services, net of any sales or other tax. The Company’s subscription
contracts typically vary from one year to three years and are generally noncancellable and nonrefundable.
Subscription service revenues consist of subscription fees earned from providing access to the Company’s cloud-based platform, including support
services and feature upgrades, if and when available. The Company’s cloud-based platform also includes training content which can be downloaded by the
customer during their subscription term. The subscription service contracts do not provide customers with the right to take possession of the software
operating on the cloud platform and, as a result, are accounted for as service arrangements. Access to the platform represents a series of distinct services
that the Company continually provides access to, which fulfills its obligation to the end customer over the subscription term. This series of distinct services
represents a single performance obligation that is satisfied over time. Accordingly, the amounts allocated to the ratable portion of subscription revenues are
recorded as deferred revenue and recognized on a straight-line basis over the contract term, beginning on the date that the service is made available to the
customer. Amounts expected to be recognized within one year of the balance sheet date are classified within current liabilities and the remaining portion is
classified in long-term liabilities.
The customers’ ability to access and download content throughout their subscription term is considered distinct and accounted for as a separate
performance obligation. The portion of the transaction price allocated to the downloadable content performance obligation is recognized as revenue at
contract inception when the customer gains access to the downloadable content.
The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligations on a relative stand-alone selling price (“SSP”) basis, which requires
significant judgment. The Company determines SSP using an adjusted market assessment approach based on the prices at which it sells subscription
services, including adjustments for standard discounting practices. As it relates to the content available for download, the calculation of SSP primarily
utilizes suggested royalty rates, assumptions regarding content production costs and other industry pricing data.
o. Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues consists of certain direct costs associated with delivering the Company’s platform and includes hosting fees as well as amortization of
capitalized internal-use software and content and allocated overhead. Cost of revenues also includes personnel costs, including salaries, benefits, bonuses,
and stock compensation, for employees who provide support services to customers.
p. Stock Compensation
The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based awards based on the estimated fair value of the award on the date of
grant. Following the IPO, stock awards primarily consist of time and performance-based restricted stock units (“RSUs”). The grant date fair value of RSUs
is measured at the grant date closing stock price and expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the award, which is generally
three years, and net of forfeitures, which are recorded as incurred.
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Performance-based RSUs vest, if at all, based on internal performance targets in effect during the year of grant. Stock compensation expense related to
these awards is initially based on the number of shares that would vest if the Company achieved 100% of the performance target, which is the intended
outcome at the grant date. Throughout the requisite service period, which is generally three years, management monitors the probability of achievement of
the performance target. If it becomes probable that more or less than the current estimate of awarded shares will vest, an adjustment to stock compensation
expense will be recognized as a change in accounting estimate in the period that such probability changes.
Stock compensation expenses related to the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) are based on the grant date fair value using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. These expenses are recognized on a straight-line basis over the offering period, which is generally 6 months unless
otherwise determined by the Company’s board of directors or compensation committee. The ESPP allows eligible employees to purchase shares of the
Company’s Class A common stock at a 15.0% discount from the lesser of the fair market value of our common stock on (i) the first trading day of the
applicable offering period or (ii) the last trading day of the purchase period in the applicable offering period.
Prior to the IPO, given the absence of an active market for the Company’s Class A common stock, the Company estimated the grant date fair value of
its stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Company’s board of directors who exercised judgment and considered numerous
objective and subjective factors to determine the best estimate of the fair value of our common stock at each grant date, including (i) valuations performed
at or near the time of grant; (ii) rights, preferences, and privileges of our redeemable convertible preferred stock relative to those of our common stock; (iii)
our actual operating and financial performance at the time of the option grant; (iv) likelihood of achieving a liquidity event, such as an initial public
offering or a merger or acquisition of our business; (v) the value of comparable companies with respect to industry, business model, stage of growth,
financial risk or other factors; (vi) our stage of development and future financial projections; (vii) market transactions at or near the time of grant; and (viii)
the lack of marketability of our common stock. Following the IPO, the Company’s Class A common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market
and the Company is no longer estimating the fair value of its common stock.
q. 401(k) Plan
The Company maintains a tax-qualified retirement plan, or the 401(k) plan, that provides eligible employees with an opportunity to save for retirement
on a tax-advantaged basis. Eligible employees are able to participate in the 401(k) plan as of the first day of the month following the date they meet the
401(k) plan’s eligibility requirements, and participants are able to defer up to 100% of their eligible compensation subject to applicable annual Internal
Revenue Code limits. All participants’ interests in their deferrals are 100% vested when contributed and the Company’s matching contributions are 100%
vested following one year of service. The Company contracted with a third-party provider to act as a custodian and trustee, and to process and maintain the
records of participant data. For the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company made contributions to the 401(k) Plan of $0.9 million and
$0.5 million, respectively. For the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 the Company made contributions of $1.8 million and $1.0 million,
respectively.
r. Advertising
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were $7.1 million and $4.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and
2021, respectively, and were $11.6 million and $7.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. These costs are included within
sales and marketing expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
s. Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are expensed when incurred, except for certain internal-use software development costs, which may be capitalized as
noted above. Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel and related headcount costs, costs of professional services associated with
the ongoing development of
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the Company’s technology, and allocated overhead and are recorded within technology and development expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.
t. Net Income (Loss) per Share
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share is presented in conformity with the two-class method required for participating securities. The Company
considers shares of Class B common stock to be participating securities, since each share of Class B common stock is convertible into one share of Class A
common stock at the option of the holder. Net income is attributed to common stockholders and participating securities based on their participation rights.
Basic net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding
during the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by giving effect to all potentially dilutive common stock equivalents to the extent they
are dilutive.
u. Business Combinations
The Company includes the results of operations of the businesses that it acquires as of the respective dates of acquisition. The Company allocates the
fair value of the purchase price of its acquisitions to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of
acquisition. The excess of the fair value of the purchase price over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Such
valuations require management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets. Significant estimates in valuing
certain intangible assets include, but are not limited to, future expected cash flows from acquired customers, acquired technology, the value of trade names
from a market participant perspective, useful lives and discount rates. Management’s estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be
reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates. During the measurement period, which may be up
to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may record adjustments to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Upon conclusion of
the measurement period or final determination of the fair value of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes first, any subsequent adjustments
are recorded to the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. Transaction costs associated with business combinations are expensed as incurred
and are included in general and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
v. Concentrations of Credit Risk and Significant Customers
The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and accounts
receivable. The Company’s cash deposits typically exceed the federally insured limits. Collateral is not required for accounts receivable.
No single customer accounted for more than ten percent of total revenues, net during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021.
Additionally, no single customer accounted for more than ten percent of accounts receivable at June 30, 2022 or at December 31, 2021.
w. Fair Value Measurement
Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with
the inputs used to measure their fair value. The lowest level of significant input determines the placement of the fair value measurement within the
following hierarchical levels:
•

Level 1: Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

•

Level 2: Other inputs that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

•

Level 3: Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

The following tables present information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value and indicate the fair value
hierarchy of the valuation inputs used (in thousands):
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June 30, 2022
Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds
Other assets:
Investments
Total assets
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses:
Contingent consideration
Other non-current liabilities:

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Total

$

203,070

$

—

$

—

$

203,070

$
$

—
203,070

$
$

—
—

$
$

2,375
2,375

$
$

2,375
205,445

$

—

$

—

$

5,000

$

5,000

Contingent consideration
Total liabilities

Significant Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

—
$

—

—
$

—

1,239
$

6,239

1,239
$

6,239

December 31, 2021
Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Total

Assets:
Cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds
Total assets

$

180,170

$

—

$

—

$

180,170

$

180,170

$

—

$

—

$

180,170

$

—

$

—

$

5,000

$

5,000

$

—

$

—

$

5,000

$

5,000

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses:
Contingent consideration
Total liabilities

The carrying amounts of certain financial instruments, including cash held in banks, accounts receivable, and accounts payable, approximate fair value
due to their short-term maturities and are excluded from the fair value tables above.
The Company invested in equity securities of privately held companies which do not have a readily determinable fair value. The Company elected to
measure these securities at cost less impairment, if any, adjusted for observable price changes resulting from orderly transactions for the identical or a
similar security of the same issuer.
The Company’s contingent consideration liabilities were initially measured using both a probability estimate of achieving the contingency and a Monte
Carlo simulation utilizing future revenues projections, a risk-adjusted discount rate and performance volatility assumptions both of which involve inherent
uncertainties.
There were no transfers between levels during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 or the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Note 3 – Revenues, Deferred Revenue and Remaining Performance Obligations
The following table summarizes revenues recognized from performance obligations delivered to customers, which relate to (i) subscription services
that are recognized ratably over the term of the contract and (ii) subscription revenues allocated to downloadable content which are recognized at a point in
time, as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Ratable portion of subscription revenues
Subscription revenues allocated to downloadable content
Total

$
$

71,178
9,584
80,762

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

50,320
9,030
59,350

$

$
$

137,293
18,502
155,795

$
$

95,730
17,170
112,900

The following table summarizes the revenues by region based on the shipping address of customers who have contracted to use the Company’s
platform (in thousands):
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

North America
International
Total

$
$

66,720
14,042
80,762

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

50,353
8,997
59,350

$

$
$

129,118
26,677
155,795

$
$

96,420
16,480
112,900

Contract Balances
The Company records unbilled receivables when revenues recognized on a contract exceed amounts invoiced. Unbilled receivables were not material
as of June 30, 2022 or December 31, 2021.
Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue which represents contractual billings made in advance of performance under the contract. Changes in
deferred revenue were as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Beginning balance
Plus: Additions to deferred revenue
Less: Recognition of revenue deferred in prior periods
Less: Recognition of revenue deferred in the current period

$

Ending balance

$

287,082 $
105,211
(69,930)
(10,832)
311,531 $

204,057 $
77,240
(49,786)
(9,564)
221,947 $

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

265,774 $
201,552
(119,899)
(35,896)
311,531 $

185,696
149,151
(81,863)
(31,037)
221,947

Remaining Performance Obligations
The transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations represents contracted revenues that have not yet been recognized, which includes
deferred revenue and unbilled amounts that will be recognized as revenues in future periods. The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation is influenced by several factors, including the timing of delivery of the Company’s products and average contract terms. Unbilled portions of the
remaining performance obligation are subject to future economic risks including bankruptcies, regulatory changes and other market factors. The Company
excludes from the remaining performance obligation amounts related to performance obligations that have been delivered and therefore recognized. The
majority of the Company’s noncurrent remaining performance obligation is expected to be recognized in the next 13 to 36 months.
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Remaining performance obligations consisted of the following (in thousands):
June 30, 2022

Current
Noncurrent

$

Total

$

December 31, 2021

231,218
146,709
377,927

$
$

198,134
125,534
323,668

Deferred Commissions
Changes in deferred commissions were as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Beginning balance
Plus: Additions to deferred commissions
Less: Recognition of deferred commissions
Plus: Foreign currency impacts on deferred commissions

$

Ending balance

$

54,671 $
9,182
(5,448)
(727)
57,678 $

38,910 $
8,539
(4,651)
28
42,826 $

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

51,711 $
17,491
(10,733)
(791)
57,678 $

37,199
14,386
(8,735)
(24)
42,826

Note 4 – Business Combinations
2021 Acquisitions
MediaPro
On March 1, 2021, the Company acquired all outstanding equity interests in MediaPro Holdings, LLC (“MediaPro”), a SaaS company that specializes
in security and privacy solutions including production of digital content and custom software. The acquisition was funded using cash consideration of
approximately $11.3 million, net of cash acquired of $1.9 million, and equity consideration of $24.7 million.
SecurityAdvisor
On November 1, 2021 the Company acquired all outstanding equity interests of SecurityAdvisor Technologies, Inc., collectively referred to as
“SecurityAdvisor”, a SaaS company providing a personalized security awareness platform that integrates with its customers’ existing security infrastructure
and provides customers the ability to address human layer risks in real-time through targeted alerts and micro-trainings. The acquisition was funded using
cash consideration of approximately $22.6 million, net of cash acquired of $4.0 million, and equity consideration of $29.0 million.
The purchase agreement also includes earn-out provisions payable in a combination of cash and equity that are contingent upon future events. These
earn-outs include $5.0 million payable in cash upon the first sale of a product incorporating the developed technology and up to $10.0 million payable in
shares of Class A common stock based upon performance targets measured by the achievement of certain annual recurring revenue levels. These earn-out
provisions are classified as contingent consideration liabilities and are subject to recurring fair value measurements. The fair value of the contingent
consideration is estimated to be $6.2 million, which includes a measurement period adjustment of $1.2 million resulting from the finalization of a thirdparty valuation report.
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The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting Standards
Codification, Topic 805, Business Combinations, and the Company has included the financial results of the acquired business in the consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition. The resulting goodwill, which is not deductible for tax purposes, is primarily attributable to expanded market
opportunities and the assembled workforce. The Company has recorded the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their respective fair values as of the
acquisition date, including measurement period adjustments to the acquired technology of $2.7 million, the deferred tax liability of $0.7 million.
Acquisition related costs for the six months ended June 30, 2022 were not material.
The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date (in thousands):
Cash
Deferred tax asset
Other assets
Acquired technology
Deferred tax liability
Other liabilities
Total identifiable net assets assumed
Goodwill

$

$

Total net asset value

3,985
938
119
14,600
(3,692)
(221)
15,729
46,070
61,799

The purchase price allocation was based on estimates of the fair value of the net assets acquired and was finalized during the second quarter. The
Company has not presented pro forma results of operations because the acquisition is not material to the Company's consolidated results of operations,
financial position, or cash flows.
Following the acquisition, the Company also granted certain key employees of SecurityAdvisor restricted stock awards, containing both service and
performance-based vesting conditions, with an aggregate grant date fair value of $15.9 million. The awards are expensed as stock compensation expense
over the requisite service period, assuming the service and performed conditions are achieved.
Note 5 – Capitalized Software and Content, Net
Capitalized software and content, net consists of the following (in thousands):
June 30, 2022

Internally developed capitalized software
Acquired technology
Capitalized content

$

Less: Accumulated amortization
$

Total capitalized software and content, net

18,458 $
14,600
26,568
59,626
(29,723)
29,903 $

December 31, 2021

16,689
11,900
23,277
51,866
(24,792)
27,074

Amortization expense for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 totaled $2.6 million and $2.1 million, respectively, and for six months ended
June 30, 2022 and 2021 totaled $5.0 million and $4.1 million, respectively. These costs are primarily included in cost of revenues in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.
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Internally developed capitalized software and content balances include accumulated costs not yet placed in service of $4.3 million at June 30, 2022. As
the related software and content is not yet in service, the costs are not included in the following estimated future amortization expenses for capitalized
software and content (in thousands):
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

Total

$

4,406
6,701
4,771
3,657
3,160
2,954
25,649

Note 6 – Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net consists of the following (in thousands):
June 30, 2022

Leasehold improvements
Computers and other equipment
Furniture and fixtures

$

Less: Accumulated depreciation
$

Total property and equipment, net

10,284 $
7,334
2,205
19,823
(9,767)
10,056 $

December 31, 2021

8,677
7,038
2,002
17,717
(8,597)
9,120

Depreciation expense for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 totaled $1.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively, and totaled $2.1 million
and $2.0 million, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Additionally, 93.6% and 92.6% of the Company’s property and equipment were located in the United States and 6.4% and 7.4% were located in
various international jurisdictions, as of June 30, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively.
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Note 7 – Intangible Assets and Goodwill
Intangible assets
Intangible assets, net consist of the following (in thousands):
June 30, 2022

Weighted Average
Amortization Period
(in years)

Acquired content and customer relationships(1)
Domain names
Patents
Trade names and other indefinite-lived intangibles(1)
In-process patents and trademarks

4.0 years $
1.7 years
18.4 years
Indefinite
Not applicable
$

Total intangible assets

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross Carrying Amount

7,084
260
2,113
707
1,497
11,661

$

$

Acquired content and customer relationships(1)
Domain names
Patents
Trade names and other indefinite-lived intangibles(1)
In-process patents and trademarks
Total intangible assets

3,814
42
1,949
707
1,497
8,009

December 31, 2021

Weighted Average
Amortization Period
(in years)

Net Carrying Amount

(3,270) $
(218)
(164)
—
—
(3,652) $

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross Carrying Amount

4.5 years $
2.1 years
18.5 years
Indefinite
Not applicable
$

7,124
260
1,761
709
1,231
11,085

$

$

Net Carrying Amount

(2,762) $
(211)
(120)
—
—
(3,093) $

4,362
49
1,641
709
1,231
7,992

_______________
(1) - Gross carrying amount includes impact of translation of foreign denominated intangible assets.

Intangible asset amortization for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 totaled $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively, and totaled $0.7
million and $0.5 million, for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. These expenses are primarily presented in operating expenses with
a portion allocated to cost of revenues within the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
Estimated future amortization expense is as follows (in thousands):
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter

$

Total

$
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Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the fair value of net assets acquired. Goodwill amounts are not
amortized, but rather tested for impairment at least annually.
The changes in carrying amounts of goodwill were as follows (in thousands):
Balance at December 31, 2020

$

8,605

Acquisitions

81,092
(368)

Other adjustments(1)
Balance at December 31, 2021

89,329

Measurement period adjustments

(779)

Other adjustments(1)

(377)

Balance at June 30, 2022

$

88,173

________________
(1) Other adjustments represents the impact of translation of foreign currency denominated goodwill balances.

Note 8 – Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):
June 30, 2022

Accrued commissions
Accrued payroll
Accounts payable
Contingent consideration
Other accrued expenses

$

$

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses

December 31, 2021

9,216
14,493
4,653
5,000
6,436
39,798

$

9,302
8,798
5,628
5,000
8,914
37,642

$

Note 9 – Leases
The Company primarily enters into operating lease agreements for office space and other property and equipment, some of which include options to
renew or terminate the lease. The options to renew, which extend for up to 5 years, are reviewed on a per lease basis to determine if the renewal option is
considered reasonably certain to be recognized and, therefore, are included in the determination of lease payments.
The components of lease costs were as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Operating lease cost
Short-term lease cost
Variable lease cost

$

Total lease cost

$

947
189
169
1,305

$

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

930
131
232
1,293

$

$

1,848
362
306
2,516

$

$

1,802
282
370
2,454

Lease costs are amortized in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company reports the
amortization of ROU assets and the change in operating lease liabilities on a net basis in accounts payable and other liabilities in the accompanying
consolidated statements of cash flows.
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Other information related to operating and finance leases is as follows:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)
Weighted-average discount rate

4.8
1.9 %

4.8
4.5 %

Future lease payments under non-cancellable leases recorded as of June 30, 2022, were as follows (in thousands):
Operating Leases

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: imputed interest

$

$

Total future lease payments under non-cancellable leases

1,835
3,320
3,174
2,564
2,557
1,660
15,110
(562)
14,548

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows (in thousands):
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflows from operating leases

$

1,848

$

1,751

ROU assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:
Operating leases

$

2,469

$

1,606

Note 10 – Revolving Credit Facility
In 2021, the Company entered into a $100.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) with Bank of America, N.A., with a
letter of credit and swingline sublimit of $10.0 million each and an accordion feature under which the Company can increase borrowings under the
Revolving Credit Facility by up to $50.0 million. The Company is also obligated to pay other customary fees for a credit facility of this size and type,
including letter of credit fees, an upfront fee, and an unused commitment fee which are expensed as incurred and included within interest expense in the
consolidated statement of operations. The Revolving Credit Facility matures on March 12, 2024 and contains certain financial covenants.
The borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest, at our option, at a base rate equal to the highest of (a) the federal funds rate plus
0.50%, (b) the rate of interest in effect for such date as publicly announced from time to time by Bank of America as its “prime rate”, or (c) the eurodollar
rate plus 1.0%, provided that such rate shall not be less than 0.5%. As of June 30, 2022, the Company did not have any outstanding borrowings under the
Revolving Credit Facility, there were no issued letters of credit outstanding from the credit agreement and the Company was in compliance with all
covenant requirements.
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Note 11 – Stockholder’s Equity
Initial Public Offering
On April 26, 2021, the Company completed an IPO of its Class A common stock, in which the Company issued and sold 10,425,000 shares of Class A
common stock, including 1,425,000 shares resulting from the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares, at an IPO price of
$16.00 per share for net proceeds to the Company of $156.0 million. Upon recording the proceeds from the transaction, the Company reclassified
$2.2 million of offering costs into stockholders’ equity (deficit) as a reduction of the net proceeds received from the IPO.
Immediately prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation, which authorized capital stock
consisting of 1,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, 500,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, par value
$0.00001 per share, and 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.00001 per share. The rights of the holders of Class A common stock and Class
B common stock are identical, except with respect to voting and conversion rights. Each share of Class B common stock is entitled to 10 votes and is
convertible into one share of Class A common stock. Additionally, all shares of the Company’s capital stock outstanding immediately prior to the IPO,
including all of the Company’s outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock, were reclassified into shares of the Company’s Class B common stock.
No dividends were declared or paid during the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.
Stockholder’s Equity Prior to Initial Public Offering
Common Stock
Prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company had one class of common stock where each share of common stock entitled the holder to one vote on
all matters submitted to the stockholders for a vote. The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of the holders of the common stock were subject to and
qualified by the rights, powers and preference of the holders of the preferred stock set forth below.
Preferred Stock
Prior to the completion of the IPO, the Company was authorized to issue 114,164,600 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.00001 per share. As of
March 31, 2021, the Company had outstanding Series A, A-1, B, C and C-1 Preferred Stock (individually referred to as “Series A, A-1, B, C or C-1” or
collectively “preferred stock”) as follows:
Issue Price per
Share

Issued and
Outstanding

Shares Authorized

Net Carrying Value

Liquidation Preference

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Series A

$

0.26

Series A-1

$

0.82

6,764,960

6,764,960

5,541

5,541

Series B

$

1.67

17,955,840

17,955,840

30,000

30,000

Series C

$

4.85

6,511,400

6,511,400

31,377

31,561

Series C-1

$

5.90

52,407,360

52,407,360

309,015

309,400

114,164,600

114,164,600

Total

30,525,040

30,525,040

$

$

8,000

383,933

$

$

8,000

384,502

As it relates to voting and dividend rights, the rights, preferences, and privileges of the preferred stock did not differ from the rights of the common
stock. No dividends were declared during the three and six months ended June 30, 2021. In the event of any deemed liquidation event, as defined in the
Company’s certificate of incorporation as then in effect, the holders of preferred stock were entitled to the greater of (i) the original issue
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price of the preferred stock plus any dividends declared and unpaid thereon, or (ii) the amount payable had all classes of shares been converted to common
stock.
Additionally, each share of preferred stock was convertible, at the option of the holder at any time, into the number of shares of common stock
determined by dividing the original issue price for such series of preferred stock by the conversion price for such series of preferred share that is in effect at
the time of conversion. Each share of preferred stock was converted to one share of Class B common stock in connection with the IPO.
Note 12 – Stock Compensation
2016 Equity Incentive Plan
The Company initially established the 2016 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2016 Incentive Plan”) which authorized the issuance of up to an aggregate of
37,728,000 shares of common stock in the form of stock options and other types of equity awards that were granted to officers, employees, directors,
consultants and advisors of the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The Company only granted stock options under the 2016 Incentive Plan. These
options generally vest within four years from the date of grant and expire ten years from the date of grant, with typical vesting of 25% on the first
anniversary and monthly thereafter.
The Company (i) amended the 2016 Incentive Plan to clarify that, following the closing of the IPO, outstanding awards under the 2016 Incentive Plan
would cover shares of the Company’s Class B common stock, and (ii) terminated the 2016 Incentive Plan; provided, however, that the 2016 Incentive Plan
continues to govern the terms and conditions of awards outstanding under the 2016 Incentive Plan as of the time of its termination. As of June 30, 2022, a
total of 8,040,614 shares of Class B common stock have been reserved for issuance upon the exercise of stock options under the 2016 Incentive Plan.
2021 Equity Incentive Plan
In April 2021, the Company adopted the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Incentive Plan”), which initially authorized the issuance of up to an
aggregate of 18,400,000 shares of Class A common stock in the form of incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, restricted stock, restricted
stock units, stock appreciation rights, performance units and performance shares to our employees, directors and consultants and any of our future
subsidiary corporations’ employees and consultants. In addition, the shares reserved for issuance under the 2021 Incentive Plan include a number of shares
of Class A common stock equal to the number of shares of Class B common stock subject to awards granted under the 2016 Incentive Plan up to a
maximum of 14,219,800 shares. The number of shares of the Company’s Class A common stock available for issuance under the 2021 Incentive Plan is
subject to an annual increase on the first day of each fiscal year beginning on January 1, 2022, equal to the lesser of: (i) 18,400,000 shares; (ii) 5% of the
outstanding shares of all classes of the Company’s common stock as of the last day of the immediately preceding year; or (iii) such other amount as the
Company’s board of directors may determine. As of June 30, 2022, 22,748,584 shares of Class A common stock were reserved for future issuance under
the 2021 Incentive Plan.
Stock Options
The Company records compensation expense for stock options based on the estimated fair value of the options on the date of grant using the BlackScholes option-pricing model with the assumptions set forth in the table below.
Six Months Ended June 30,
2021

Expected term (years)
Expected stock price volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Fair value of common stock

$
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The following table summarizes the common stock option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2022:

Number of Shares

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited or expired
Outstanding as of June 30, 2022
Vested and exercisable as of June 30, 2022

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

9,104,749 $
—
(963,004)
(101,131)
8,040,614 $
5,866,254 $

3.18
—
2.32
5.17
3.25
2.74

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Term
(years)

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

$

1.51
—

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

6.9
18,106

$
$

1.56
1.31

6.8 $
6.5 $

99,439
75,538

The aggregate intrinsic value of the options exercised represents the difference between the estimated fair value of our common stock on the date of
exercise and the exercise price of the options.
Share Repurchases
Prior to the completion of its IPO, the Company repurchased or promised to repurchase shares of common stock from former employees under preexisting contingent call options triggered upon termination. The repurchase price paid or promised was in excess of the fair value of the common stock on
the repurchase date. During April 2021, the Company completed its IPO, establishing a public market for the Company’s shares and no longer repurchases
shares under remaining contingent call options.
Restricted Stock Units
The Company recognizes stock compensation expense associated with RSUs over the term of the respective awards. The following table summarizes
the RSU activity during the six months ended June 30, 2022:
Shares

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021
Granted
Vested
Forfeited or expired

2,433,681
793,784
(354,443)
(84,191)
2,788,831

Outstanding as of June 30, 2022

Weighted-Average Grant-Date
Fair Value per Share

$
$
$
$
$

20.80
19.40
17.88
22.01
20.73

2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In April 2021, the Company adopted its ESPP, which initially reserved for issuance 3,350,000 shares of Class A common stock. The number of shares
reserved under the ESPP will automatically increase on the first day of each fiscal year, starting on January 1, 2022, in an amount equal to the lesser of (i)
3,350,000 shares, (ii) 1% of the outstanding shares of our common stock on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year, or (iii) such other amount
as the administrator of the ESPP may determine. As of June 30, 2022, 5,092,727 shares of Class A common stock were reserved for future issuance under
the ESPP.
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The fair value of the ESPP purchase right is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022

Expected term (years)
Expected stock price volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield

Six Months Ended June 30,
2021

0.5
71.0% - 81.9%
0.1% - 1.5%
—%

0.5
60.9 %
0.4 %
—%

Stock Compensation Expense
The following table summarizes the components of stock compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations (in
thousands):
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Cost of revenues
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total stock compensation expense

$

$

179
1,421
1,328
4,053
6,981

$

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

76
5,662
148
12,983
18,869

$

$

345
2,575
2,581
7,107
12,608

$

$

129
6,551
288
13,560
20,528

As of June 30, 2022, the Company had $50.5 million of unrecognized stock compensation associated with stock awards, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.3 years.
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Note 13 – Net Income (Loss) per Share
The computation of net income (loss) per share is as follows (in thousands, except share and per share data):
Three Months Ended
June 30, 2022
Class A
Class B
Net income per share, basic:
Numerator:
Allocation of undistributed income for basic calculation
Denominator:
Number of shares used in basic per share computation
Net income per share, basic

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2022
Class A
Class B

$

1,452

$

1,896

$

1,976

$

2,732

$

76,023,858
0.02

$

99,269,315
0.02

$

73,404,219
0.03

$

101,505,630
0.03

1,452

$

1,896

$

1,976

$

2,732

$

—
(72)
1,824 $

2,732
—
4,708

$

—
(110)
2,622

Net income per share, diluted:
Numerator:
Allocation of undistributed income for basic calculation
$
Reallocation of undistributed income for diluted calculation
based on conversion of Class B to Class A shares
Reallocation of undistributed income
Allocation of undistributed income for diluted calculation
$
Denominator:
Number of shares used in basic per share computation
Plus: reallocation of Class B to Class A shares outstanding
Plus: dilutive common stock options and restricted stock
units
Number of shares used in diluted per share computation
$
Net income per share, basic and diluted

1,896
—
3,348
76,023,858
99,269,315

99,269,315
—

73,404,219
101,505,630

101,505,630
—

6,927,476
182,220,649
0.02

—
99,269,315
0.02

7,320,059
182,229,908
0.03

—
101,505,630
0.03

$

$

Three Months Ended
June 30, 2021
Class A
Class B
Net loss per share, basic and diluted:
Numerator:
Allocation of undistributed loss for basic and diluted calculation $
Denominator:
Number of shares used in basic and diluted per share computation
Net loss per share, basic and diluted
$

$

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2021
Class A
Class B

(1,136) $

(15,727) $

(988) $

(13,675)

8,235,097
(0.14) $

114,038,847
(0.14) $

4,117,549
(0.24) $

57,019,424
(0.24)
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Potentially dilutive securities that were not included in the June 30, 2021 diluted per share calculations because they would be antidilutive were as
follows:
Three Months
Ended
June 30, 2021

Stock options
Restricted stock units
Shares issuable pursuant to the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

12,030,920
175,301
—
12,206,221

Total potentially dilutive securities

Six Months Ended
June 30, 2021

12,109,270
175,301
—
12,284,571

Note 14 – Income Taxes
The Company computes its year-to-date provision for income taxes by applying the estimated annual effective tax rate to year-to-date pretax income or
loss and adjusts the provision for discrete tax items recorded in the period. Each quarter the Company updates its estimated annual effective tax rate and
makes a cumulative adjustment if the estimated annual tax rate has changed.
The Company recognized income tax expense of $0.2 million and $0.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and of
$0.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021. Tax expense was primarily attributable to taxes generated on operating income expected to
be earned in both the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions. As of June 30, 2022, the Company has a full valuation allowance on its U.S. federal and state and
certain foreign deferred tax assets.
Note 15 – Commitments and Contingencies
The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company establishes accruals for
specific legal proceedings when it is considered probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. Accruals for
loss contingencies are reviewed periodically and adjusted as additional information becomes available. If a loss is not both probable and reasonably
estimable, or if an exposure to loss exists in excess of the amount accrued, the Company assesses whether there is at least a reasonable possibility that a
loss, or additional loss, may have been incurred. If there is a reasonable possibility that a loss, or additional loss, may have been incurred, the Company
discloses the estimate of the possible loss or range of loss, or states that such an estimate cannot be made. The evaluation as to whether a loss is reasonably
possible or probable is based on the Company’s assessment, in conjunction with legal counsel, regarding the ultimate outcome of the matter.
The Company believes that it has adequately accrued for the potential impact of loss contingencies that are probable and reasonably estimable. The
Company does not believe that the ultimate resolution of any matters to which the Company is presently a party will have a material adverse effect on its
consolidated results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. However, the results of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, and an
unfavorable resolution of one or more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations, financial
condition or cash flows. Legal costs are expensed as incurred.
Note 16 – Related Party Transactions
Kevin Mitnick, a former member of the board of directors and a holder of greater than 5% of the Company’s Class B common stock, performs
consulting services for and licenses to the Company the right to use his name and likeness in connection with the Company’s products. Mr. Mitnick's
consulting agreement calls for an annual fee of $0.2 million plus the reimbursement of certain expenses.
Note 17 – Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events through the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and determined that there have been no
events that have occurred that would require adjustments to our disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

31

Table of Contents

Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and the related notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. As discussed in “Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” in addition to historical financial information, the following discussion and analysis may contain forwardlooking statements regarding our expectations of future performance, liquidity and capital resources, our plans, estimates, beliefs and expectations that
involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results and timing of selected events may differ materially from those anticipated or implied in
these forward-looking statements as a result of many factors, including those discussed under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q.
Overview
KnowBe4 has developed the leading security awareness platform enabling organizations to assess, monitor and minimize the ongoing cybersecurity
threat of social engineering attacks. We are pioneering an integrated approach to security awareness that incorporates cloud-based software, machine
learning, artificial intelligence, advanced analytics and insights with engaging content. Our platform is designed to drive awareness, change human
behavior and enable a security-minded culture that results in a reduction of social engineering risks.
Our flagship product, Kevin Mitnick Security Awareness Training (“KMSAT”), focuses on enabling organizations to assess their social engineering
risks and providing security awareness training to mitigate these risks. KnowBe4 Compliance Manager (“KCM”), enables organizations to manage
compliance and audit cycles and PhishER, our security orchestration and automation product, enables security operations teams to prioritize and automate
security workstreams in order to respond to, and remediate, social engineering attacks. Our Compliance Plus product provides our customers with relevant
and engaging compliance content on a broad range of topics from data privacy to diversity, equity and inclusion. Additionally, we are currently developing
the SecurityCoach product to incorporate technology gained through the SecurityAdvisor acquisition to address human behavior risks in real-time.
We generate substantially all of our revenues from the sale of subscriptions to access our cloud-based platform. Subscription sales are primarily
generated by our inside sales representatives and our network of channel partners. Our platform is priced individually by product then based on the
subscription tier and number of subscribed users. This pricing model allows us to offer organizations flexibility to meet their individual needs without
compromising the overall value of our platform. For KMSAT, Compliance Plus and PhishER, the number of subscribed users typically includes all or a
majority of the employees within the customer organization. For KCM, the number of subscribed users typically includes the employees responsible for the
administration of governance and compliance functions within the customer organization. KMSAT and KCM each feature premium tiers, which offer
customers access to additional features, including many of our APIs and AI functionality. Additionally, the premium tiers of KMSAT offer customers
access to more differentiated content options, including highly produced, serialized content, interactive modules, games and compliance modules.
Our platform is designed to be powerful, yet highly scalable, intuitive and easy to deploy, in order to reduce the administrative burden of managing
social engineering risk on security and IT professionals. Customers typically deploy our platform quickly across their entire organization to monitor and
reduce the cybersecurity risk associated with their employees’ behavior. Because our products are designed to change human behavior within the entire
organization, rollout of our products is performed organization-wide at the onset of a contract rather than focused on certain departments or portions of an
organization. We utilize our team of customer success managers to ensure successful adoption and use of our products, while our team of dedicated pricing
specialists are tasked with negotiating customer renewals, along with upselling and cross-selling. We sell our products to customers of all sizes both
directly through our dedicated inside sales teams for enterprise and small and medium businesses (“SMBs”), and indirectly through channel partners and
managed service providers (“MSPs”).
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We have established a significant market presence, with more than 52,200 customers as of June 30, 2022, across virtually all industries and multiple
geographies. No single direct customer represented more than 1% of our revenues for three and six months ended June 30, 2022.
Our business has experienced significant growth with total revenues, net of $80.8 million and $59.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022
and 2021, respectively, and $155.8 million and $112.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. As of June 30, 2022 and
2021, we had annual recurring revenue (“ARR”), of $328.3 million and $240.6 million, respectively. For the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021,
we had net income of $3.3 million and net loss of $16.9 million, respectively, and for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 we had net income of
$4.7 million and net loss of $14.7 million, respectively. See the sections titled “—Key Business Metrics—Annual Recurring Revenue” for additional
information regarding ARR.
We have built our business with a focus on cash flow generation. Our net cash provided by operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2022
and 2021 was $47.4 million and $35.9 million and our free cash flow was $42.5 million and $33.8 million, respectively. See the sections titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial Measures—Free Cash Flow” for
additional information regarding free cash flow and for a reconciliation of free cash flow to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”).
Recent Events
Our business is subject to risks and uncertainties arising from current global macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions, including but not limited to,
the Russian invasion of Ukraine, inflationary pressures and actions to counter those pressures, supply chain constraints, labor shortages, and the ongoing
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. While the ultimate impact of these events on our business is uncertain, we have not experienced significant adverse
impacts to our results of operations, including our number of customers, ARR and revenues, or any indications that our results of operations would be
adversely impacted in the future. We expect the competitive nature of our pricing model to allow our customers, particularly SMBs, to retain their
subscriptions throughout the ongoing macroeconomic challenges. Further, we believe that organizations will continue to prioritize cybersecurity spending,
which may result in increases to our number of customers, ARR and revenues as organizations see a greater need for our platform.
Refer to Part II, Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion of the possible impact of the current
macroeconomic environment on our business.
Key Business Metrics
We regularly monitor a number of financial and operating metrics, including the following key metrics, in order to measure our current performance
and estimate our future performance, as follows:
June 30,
2022

Number of customers
Annual recurring revenue

$

52,216
328,325

$

Change
2021
Amount
(dollars in thousands)
41,601
10,615
240,595 $
87,730

%
25.5 %
36.5 %

Number of Customers
We believe that our ability to increase and retain the number of customers on our platform is an indicator of our market penetration, the growth of our
business and potential future business opportunities. Increasing awareness of our platform and products, combined with further overall awareness of the
need to address the human risk within cybersecurity, has continued to expand our customer base to include organizations of all sizes across all industries.
We define a customer as a separate and distinct buying entity, such as a company, an educational or government institution or a distinct business unit of a
large company that has an active contract with us to access our platform. We do not consider our channel partners as separate customers as our contracts are
executed with the end user, and we treat MSPs who may purchase our products on behalf of multiple companies, as a single customer. As our
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customer base grows and as our market penetration increases, we do not expect to continue to grow at the same year-over-year rate.
Annual Recurring Revenue
We believe that ARR is a key metric to measure our business performance because it is driven by our ability to acquire new customers and to maintain
and expand our relationship with existing customers. We define ARR as the annualized value of all contractual subscription agreements as of the end of the
period. We perform this calculation on an individual contract basis by dividing the total dollar amount of a contract by the total contract term stated in
months and multiplying this amount by twelve to annualize. Calculated ARR for each individual contract is then aggregated to arrive at total ARR. ARR
does not have a standardized meaning and therefore may not be comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies. ARR should be
viewed independently of revenues, deferred revenue and remaining performance obligations and is not intended to be combined with or to replace any of
those items. Specifically, ARR, as calculated under the definition herein, does not adjust for the timing impact of revenue recognition for specific
performance obligations identified within a contract. ARR is not a forecast and the active contracts at the date used in calculating ARR may or may not be
extended by our customers. We expect ARR in total dollars to continue to grow as we execute on our growth strategies and increase our market penetration,
but we do not expect to continue to grow at the same year-over-year rate as we become a larger, more mature business.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
In addition to our results determined in accordance with GAAP, we believe the following non-GAAP measures are useful in evaluating our operating
performance. We believe that non-GAAP financial information, when taken collectively, may be helpful to investors because it provides consistency and
comparability with past financial performance. However, non-GAAP financial information is presented for supplemental informational purposes only, has
limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for financial information presented in accordance with GAAP.
Other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate similarly-titled non-GAAP measures differently or may use other measures to
evaluate their performance, all of which could reduce the usefulness of our non-GAAP financial measures as tools for comparison. A reconciliation is
provided below for each non-GAAP financial measure to the most directly comparable financial measure stated in accordance with GAAP. Investors are
encouraged to review the related GAAP financial measures and the reconciliation of these non-GAAP financial measures to their most directly comparable
GAAP financial measures and not to rely on any single financial measure to evaluate our business.
Non-GAAP Gross Profit
We define non-GAAP gross profit as GAAP gross profit excluding stock compensation expense, amortization of acquired technology and intangible
assets and acquisition and integration related costs, if applicable. Costs associated with acquisitions and integration include legal, accounting and other
professional fees, changes in the fair value of contingent consideration obligations and other costs related to the transition of the acquired business. We
believe non-GAAP gross profit provides our management and investors consistency and comparability with our past financial performance and facilitates
period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations, as this metric generally eliminates the effects of certain variables unrelated to our overall
operating performance.

Gross profit
Add: Stock compensation expense
Add: Amortization of acquired technology and intangible
assets

$

Non-GAAP gross profit

$

Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
(in thousands)
69,853 $
50,759
179
76
960
70,992

34

$

147
50,982

$

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
(in thousands)
134,741 $
96,966
345
129
1,605
136,691

$

241
97,336
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Non-GAAP Operating Income
We define non-GAAP operating income as GAAP operating income excluding stock compensation expense, amortization of acquired technology and
intangible assets and acquisition and integration related costs. Costs associated with acquisitions and integration include legal, accounting and other
professional fees, changes in the fair value of contingent consideration obligations and other costs related to the transition of the acquired business. We
believe non-GAAP operating income provides our management and investors consistency and comparability with our past financial performance and
facilitates period-to-period comparisons of operations, as this metric generally eliminates the effects of certain variables unrelated to our overall operating
performance.
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
(in thousands)
Operating income (loss)

$

2,818

Add: Stock compensation expense

6,981

Add: Amortization of acquired technology and intangible
assets
$

(15,795) $

5,410

$

(13,030)

18,869

12,608

1,121

294

1,926

469

34

1,137

34

2,448

Add: Acquisition and integration related costs
Non-GAAP operating income

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
(in thousands)

10,954

$

4,505

$

19,978

20,528

$

10,415

Free Cash Flow
We define free cash flow as net cash provided by operating activities less purchases of property, equipment, amounts capitalized for internal-use
software and principal payments on finance leases. We believe that free cash flow is a meaningful indicator of liquidity to management and investors about
the amount of cash generated from our operations that, after the investments in property, equipment and capitalized internal-use software, can be used for
strategic initiatives.
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

(in thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities

$

22,252

$

(in thousands)

14,094

$

47,393

$

35,946

Less: Purchases of property and equipment

(1,590)

(536)

(2,621)

(1,055)

Less: Capitalized internal-use software

(1,522)

(759)

(2,260)

(1,121)

(11)

(10)

(21)

(20)

Less: Principal payments on finance leases
Free cash flow

$

19,129

$

12,789

$

42,491

$

33,750

Components of Our Operating Results
Revenues
We derive substantially all of our revenues from subscription services fees paid by customers for access to our cloud-based platform, which includes
support services and feature upgrades throughout the duration of the customer’s contract. While contracts with our customers do not provide the customer
with the right to take possession of software operating on our global cloud-based platform, certain arrangements allow our customers the ability to
download and use our content within their own learning management systems. Our content is only available to customers throughout the duration of their
subscription and is accessed through our cloud-based platform. Subscription services fees and access to content for download are considered separate
performance obligations. Invoiced amounts are allocated between subscription services fees and access to content and are recorded as deferred revenue and
revenues, respectively. Deferred revenue primarily consists of amounts invoiced to customers for our subscription services and is generally recognized
ratably over the subscription period while revenues related to content downloads is recognized at contract inception.
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Subscription terms typically range from one year to three years and generally begin on the date access to our platform is made available to the
customer. Our subscriptions are generally invoiced upfront for the duration of the contract term or in annual installments. Our arrangements are primarily
noncancellable and nonrefundable. We collect our receivables in advance of the subscription service period and often issue renewal invoices in advance of
the renewal service period.
Because we recognize revenues ratably over the terms of our subscription contracts, a substantial portion of the revenues that we report in each period
is attributable to the recognition of deferred revenue relating to agreements that we entered into during previous periods. Consequently, increases or
decreases in new sales or renewals in any one period may not be immediately reflected as revenues for that period. Accordingly, the effect of downturns in
sales and market acceptance of our platform, and potential changes in our rate of renewals, may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until
future periods.
Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
Cost of revenues consists of costs associated with delivering our platform and providing support to our customers. These costs include employeerelated costs such as salaries and bonuses, stock compensation expense and benefits costs associated with our operations and support personnel, costs
associated with third-party hosting services, amortization of acquired technology, amortization of capitalized internal-use software and content and
allocated overhead. We expect cost of revenues to increase in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenues, relative to the extent of the growth of our
business and reflective of the impacts of wage inflation seen in the market as a whole.
Gross margin is gross profit expressed as a percentage of total revenues. Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by various factors,
including the timing and amount of costs associated with supporting our platform, the extent to which we expand our customer success team and the rate at
which we develop or acquire new products, significant features and additional content added to our platform. We intend to continue to invest additional
resources in our platform, content development and support services which we expect to result in steady gross margin over time.
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing
Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of employee-related costs, including salaries and wages, stock compensation expenses and sales
commissions, costs of general marketing programs and promotional activities, travel-related expenses and allocated overhead. Sales commissions earned by
our sales force that are considered to be incremental to the cost of acquiring a customer are deferred and amortized over the estimated period of benefit.
Marketing programs consist of advertising, events, including our KB4-CON customer conference, which has historically been held during the second
quarter of each year, corporate communications, brand building and product marketing activities. We expect our sales and marketing expenses to increase
on an absolute dollar basis as we continue to make significant investments in our sales and marketing organization to drive additional revenues, increase
market share and expand our global customer base.
Technology and Development
Technology and development costs consist primarily of research and development activities, non-capitalizable costs of developing platform features
and content and certain overhead allocations. These costs include employee-related costs, including salaries and wages and stock compensation expenses,
consulting services, expenses related to the design, development, testing and enhancements of our subscription services. Technology and development costs
are expensed as incurred. We expect that our technology and development expenses may increase as we continue to enhance our platform functionality and
develop new content and features and may fluctuate as a percentage of our revenues depending on the timing and nature of development activities.
Additionally, our technology and development costs could be impacted by the ongoing trend towards remote work and overall wage inflation.
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General and Administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of employee-related costs for accounting, finance, legal, IT and human resources personnel and
also include expenses related to consulting services, audit fees, tax services, legal services and other general corporate items. Our general and
administrative costs also include our investment in internal initiatives and tools which we believe promotes our corporate culture and helps us attract and
retain talent. We expect our general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute dollars in future periods as we continue to expand our operations,
hire additional personnel, see the ongoing impact of overall wage inflation and incur costs to support the requirements of being a public company.
Interest Income
Interest income primarily consists of interest earned on overnight cash deposits and fluctuates with market rates of interest and overall cash balances.
Interest Expense
Interest expense primarily relates to imputed interest calculated on certain contingent consideration obligations arising from our historical business
combinations along with fees associated with our revolving line of credit.
Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense consists of federal and state income taxes in the United States and income taxes in certain foreign jurisdictions. Our provision for
income taxes has not historically been significant to our business as we have incurred annual operating losses to date. We maintain a valuation allowance
on our U.S. federal, state and certain foreign deferred tax assets as we have concluded that it is not more likely than not that the deferred assets will be
realized.
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Results of Operations
The following table is a summary of our consolidated statements of operations:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

(in thousands)

Revenues, net

$

80,762

(1)

Cost of revenues
Gross profit

$

(in thousands)

59,350

$

155,795

$

112,900

10,909

8,591

21,054

15,934

69,853

50,759

134,741

96,966

34,684

31,510

65,431

54,581

8,764

6,760

17,673

12,502

23,587

28,284

46,227

42,913

67,035

66,554

129,331

109,996

2,818

(15,795)

5,410

(13,030)

503

7

533

25

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing(1)
Technology and development(1)
(1)

General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense

(65)

(66)

(151)

(262)

Other income (expense)

264

(416)

(274)

(559)

3,520

(16,270)

5,518

(13,826)

(172)

(593)

(810)

(837)

(16,863) $

4,708

Income (loss) before income tax expense
Income tax expense
$

Net income (loss)

3,348

$

$

(14,663)

________________
(1) Amounts include stock compensation expense as follows:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022

Six Months Ended June 30,

2021

2022

(in thousands)

Cost of revenues

$

179

Sales and marketing

1,421

Technology and development
General and administrative
Total stock compensation expense

$

$

2021
(in thousands)

76

$

345

$

129

5,662

2,575

1,328

148

2,581

288

4,053

12,983

7,107

13,560

6,981

38

$

18,869

$

12,608

6,551

$

20,528
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The following table is a summary of our consolidated statements of operations as a percentage of our total revenues for the periods:
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
100.0 %
100.0 %
13.5 %
14.5 %
86.5 %
85.5 %

Revenues, net
Cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense)
Income (loss) before income tax expense
Income tax expense

42.9
10.9
29.2
83.0
3.5

Net income (loss)

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
100.0 %
100.0 %
13.5 %
14.1 %
86.5 %
85.9 %

%
%
%
%
%

53.1 %
11.4 %
47.7 %
112.1 %
(26.6)%

42.0
11.3
29.7
83.0
3.5

%
%
%
%
%

48.3 %
11.1 %
38.0 %
97.4 %
(11.5)%

0.6 %
(0.1)%
0.3 %
4.4 %
(0.2)%
4.1 %

—%
(0.1)%
(0.7)%
(27.4)%
(1.0)%
(28.4)%

0.3 %
(0.1)%
(0.2)%
3.5 %
(0.5)%
3.0 %

—%
(0.2)%
(0.5)%
(12.2)%
(0.7)%
(13.0)%

Comparison of the Three Months Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021
Revenues
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
Revenues, net

$

80,762

$

Change
$
(dollars in thousands)
59,350
$

%
21,412

36.1

%

Revenues increased by $21.4 million, or 36.1%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021. Due to
the nature of our subscription-based business model, the large portion of our revenues in a given period results from the recognition of revenues deferred in
prior periods. As such, $20.1 million of the year-over-year increase in revenue is related to the recognition of deferred revenues from the accumulation of
contracts entered into during prior periods. The remaining increase is attributable to revenues from new customers combined with revenues from crossselling additional products into our existing customer base. We attribute our success gaining new customers to our ongoing industry evangelism and overall
marketing efforts combined with current events driving awareness of the need for our products. Our customer base grew by 25.5% and the number of
customers with active subscriptions to more than one of our products has increased to 26.3% of our total customer base. Additionally, revenues earned in
foreign jurisdictions increased by $5.0 million compared to the prior year quarter.
Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
Cost of revenues
Gross margin

$

10,909
86.5

$
%

Change
2021
(dollars in thousands)
8,591
85.5
%

$
$

%
2,318

27.0

%

Cost of revenues increased by $2.3 million, or 27.0%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022, compared to the three months ended June 30, 2021.
The overall increase in cost of revenues is in line with our increase in
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revenues over the same period, while slightly improving our margin position. The total dollar value increase in cost of revenues is primarily driven by $1.5
million of additional personnel costs related to increased headcount to support our customer growth. Other increases relate to amortization expense
associated with recently acquired intangible assets and higher platform hosting costs, which are in line with our business growth.
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
Sales and marketing

$

34,684

$

Change
$
(dollars in thousands)
31,510
$

%
3,174

10.1

%

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $3.2 million, or 10.1%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022, compared to three months ended June
30, 2021. This increase primarily relates to personnel costs of $3.6 million, including salaries and commissions, driven by headcount increases within our
sales organization, which is consistent with our overall business growth. An additional $3.8 million of sales and marketing expenses primarily relates to
industry events, including our KB4-CON customer conference, and other demand generation activities. These expenses were offset by a decrease in stock
compensation expense of $4.2 million when compared to the prior year quarter, which was primarily driven by $5.0 million of stock compensation expense
recognized in connection with our initial public offering (“IPO”) completed in April 2021.
Technology and Development

Technology and development

$

Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
$
(dollars in thousands)
8,764 $
6,760 $

Change
%
2,004

29.6 %

Technology and development expenses increased by $2.0 million, or 29.6%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022, compared to the three months
ended June 30, 2021. This increase is largely due to additional personnel costs of $1.4 million which primarily relate to additional stock compensation
expense of $1.2 million as we began granting RSUs after IPO. Other personnel costs for the three months have not materially changed, despite increases to
headcount, due to the additional capitalization of labor costs associated with the SecurityCoach product development. The remainder of the increase over
the prior year is primarily associated with non-capitalizable costs to produce Inside Man 4, which is part of our serialized content.
General and Administrative
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
General and administrative

$

23,587

$

Change
$
(dollars in thousands)
28,284
$

%
(4,697)

(16.6)

%

General and administrative expenses decreased by $4.7 million, or 16.6%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022, compared to the three months
ended June 30, 2021. This decrease primarily relates to a decrease in stock compensation expense for the three months of $8.9 million, primarily resulting
from the $10.0 million of stock compensation expense recognized in connection with our IPO completed in April 2021. This decrease was offset by
increases in other personnel costs of $2.4 million, driven by headcount increases of 33.5%, comparatively, across our administrative support functions
much of which is to support our international growth and shared service center operations. Additional offsetting increases of $0.5 million relate to
incremental costs of subscription services that are correlated to headcount and/or usage and $1.2 million of incremental costs for professional services,
including consulting and software implementation costs.
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Income Tax Expense
Three Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
Income tax expense

$

172

Change
$

%

(in thousands)
593 $

$

(421)

(71.0)%

Income tax expense decreased by $0.4 million, or 71.0%, for the three months ended June 30, 2022, compared to the three months ended June 30,
2021, primarily due to the tax impacts of the acquired technology fair value adjustment made during the current quarter.
Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021
Revenues
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
Revenues, net

$

155,795

$

Change
$

(dollars in thousands)
112,900
$

%
42,895

38.0

%

Revenues increased by $42.9 million, or 38.0%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022, compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. Due to the
nature of our subscription-based business model, the large portion of our revenues in a given period results from the recognition of revenues deferred in
prior periods. As such, $38.0 million of the year-over-year increase in revenues is related to the recognition of deferred revenue from the accumulation of
contracts entered into during prior periods. The remaining increase is attributable to revenues from new customers combined with revenues from crossselling additional products into our existing customer base driven by our customer success teams’ efforts to expand our customers’ use of our platform
beyond a single product. Our customer base grew by 25.5% and the number of customers with active subscriptions to more than one of our products has
increased to 26.3% of our total customer base. Additionally, revenues earned in foreign jurisdictions increased by $10.2 million compared to the prior year
period.
Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
Cost of revenues
Gross margin

$

21,054
86.5

Change
2021
(dollars in thousands)
15,934
85.9
%

$
%

$
$

%
5,120

32.1

%

Cost of revenues increased by $5.1 million, or 32.1%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022, compared to the six months ended June 30, 2021. The
overall increase in cost of revenues is in line with our increase in revenues over the same period, while slightly improving our margin position. The total
dollar value increase in cost of revenues is primarily driven by $3.4 million of additional personnel costs related to increased headcount to support our
customer growth. Other increases relate to additional amortization expense associated with recently acquired intangible assets and higher platform hosting
costs, which are in line with our business growth.
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
Sales and marketing

$

65,431

$

41

Change
$
(dollars in thousands)
54,581
$

%
10,850

19.9

%
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Sales and marketing expenses increased by $10.9 million, or 19.9%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022, compared to the six months ended June
30, 2021. This increase primarily relates to increased personnel costs of $8.6 million, including salaries and commissions, driven by headcount increases
within our sales organization, which is consistent with our overall business growth. $4.6 million of the increase in sales and marketing expenses relates to
expanded marketing programs, specifically industry events, including our KB4-CON customer conference, corporate communications, brand building and
product marketing activities. Additional corporate allocations, which are in line with sales and marketing headcount growth, contributed $1.2 million to the
overall increase. These increases were offset by a decrease in stock compensation expense of $4.0 million primarily resulting from the $5.0 million of stock
compensation expense recognized in connection with our IPO completed in April 2021.
Technology and Development

Technology and development

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
$
(dollars in thousands)
17,673 $
12,502 $

Change
%
5,171

41.4 %

Technology and development expenses increased by $5.2 million, or 41.4%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022, compared to the six months
ended June 30, 2021. This increase is due to personnel costs of $4.0 million including additional stock compensation expense of $2.3 million and other
headcount driven increases in salaries. Increases to headcount-related costs for the period were offset by additional capitalization of labor costs associated
with the SecurityCoach product development. The remainder of the increase relates to costs of subscription services and corporate allocations which
fluctuate with growth of the business.
General and Administrative

General and administrative

$

Six Months Ended June 30,
Change
2022
2021
$
(dollars in thousands)
46,227 $
42,913 $
3,314

%
7.7 %

General and administrative expenses increased by $3.3 million, or 7.7%, for the six months ended June 30, 2022, compared to the six months ended
June 30, 2021. This increase primarily relates to additional personnel costs of $7.1 million, driven by headcount increases of 33.5%, comparatively, across
our administrative support functions, a portion of which support anticipated growth of our international locations and shared service center. Additional
general and administrative expenses of $1.2 million relate to incremental costs of subscription services that are also correlated to headcount and/or usage
and $1.6 million of incremental costs for professional services, including consulting and software implementation costs. These increases were offset by a
decrease in stock compensation expense for the six months of $6.5 million, driven by the $10.0 million of additional stock compensation expense
recognized in conjunction with our IPO completed in April 2021.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
At June 30, 2022, our principal sources of liquidity were cash and cash equivalents totaling $315.5 million and accounts receivable of $62.5 million.
Our cash and cash equivalents are comprised of time deposits with financial institutions. To date, we have financed our operations primarily through
payments received from customers using our platform supplemented by proceeds from sales of our equity securities. Our positive cash flows from
operations enable us to make continued investments in the growth of our business. We expect our operating cash flows to further improve as we increase
our operational efficiency and experience economies of scale.
We typically invoice our subscription customers annually in advance. Therefore, a substantial source of our cash is from customer prepayments, which
are included on our consolidated balance sheets as deferred revenue. Deferred revenue consists of invoiced fees for our subscription services, prior to
satisfying the criteria for revenue recognition, which are subsequently recognized as revenues in accordance with our revenue recognition policy. As of
June 30, 2022, we had deferred revenue of $311.5 million, of which $215.6 million was recorded as a current
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liability and is expected to be recorded as revenues in the next 12 months, provided all other revenue recognition criteria are met.
Our remaining performance obligation represents contracted revenues that has not yet been recognized and includes deferred revenue, which has been
invoiced and is recorded on the consolidated balance sheets, and unbilled amounts that are not yet recorded on the balance sheets, that will be recognized as
revenues in future periods. As of June 30, 2022, our remaining performance obligation was $377.9 million.
On March 12, 2021, we entered into a three-year $100.0 million revolving credit facility with Bank of America, N.A. (the “Revolving Credit
Facility”). Interest on any borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest, at our option, at (i) a base rate equal to the highest of (a) the federal
funds rate plus 0.5%, (b) the rate of interest in effect for such date as publicly announced from time to time by Bank of America as its “prime rate”, or (c)
the eurodollar rate plus 1.0%, provided that such rate will not be less than 0.5%. We are obligated to pay other customary fees for a credit facility of this
size and type, including letter of credit fees, an upfront fee, and an unused commitment fee. The terms of our Revolving Credit Facility include a number of
covenants that limit our ability and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, grant liens, merge or consolidate with
other companies or sell substantially all of our assets, pay dividends, make redemptions and repurchases of stock, make investments, loans and
acquisitions, or engage in transactions with affiliates. We expect to use the revolving credit facility for general corporate purposes, including potential
future acquisitions and expansions. As of June 30, 2022, we were in compliance with all covenants and there were no amounts outstanding under this
facility.
On April 26, 2021, we completed our IPO, in which we sold 10,925,000 shares of our Class A common stock at a price to the public of $16.00 per
share, including 1,425,000 shares pursuant to the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares. We received net proceeds of
$153.0 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $10.8 million and offering expenses paid by us of approximately $3.0 million.
We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash provided by operating activities, available borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility, and
unbilled amounts related to contracted non-cancelable subscription agreements, which are not reflected on the balance sheet, will be sufficient to meet our
working capital and capital expenditure needs over the next 12 months. In the future, we may enter into arrangements to acquire or invest in
complementary businesses, products and technologies, and intellectual property rights, though we currently have no agreements or commitments to do so.
To facilitate these acquisitions or investments, we may seek additional equity or debt financing, which may not be available on terms favorable to us or at
all, impacting our ability to complete subsequent acquisitions or investments.
Cash Flows
The following table presents a summary of our consolidated cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities.
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

$
$
$

47,393 $
(7,216) $
3,148 $

35,946
(13,499)
148,562

Operating Activities
Our largest source of cash flows from operations is cash collections from our customers for subscription services while our primary use of cash for
operating activities is for employee-related expenses, including salaries, commissions and monthly performance bonuses. We have historically generated
positive cash flows from operations as a result of our efficient sales model and period-over-period growth in subscription services.
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Net cash provided by operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2022 was $47.4 million, which consisted of net income of $4.7 million,
adjusted for non-cash charges of $27.2 million and net cash inflows of $15.5 million provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash
charges primarily consisted of $12.6 million of stock compensation expense, $10.7 million of amortization of deferred commissions and $7.7 million of
depreciation and amortization of our capital assets. Cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily relate to a $45.8 million increase
in the total deferred revenue balance resulting from the sale of additional subscription services under our standard advanced invoicing practices. These
inflows were offset by cash outflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities related to a $6.0 million increase in the total deferred commissions
balance as we increase sales to new customers and renew our existing contracts, an $8.4 million increase in accounts receivable due to a substantial
increase in sales close to the end of quarter and a $7.1 million increase in the prepaid and other assets balance primarily due to advanced payroll funding,
renewed insurance policies for directors and officers and future in-person marketing events..
Net cash provided by operating activities during the six months ended June 30, 2021 was $35.9 million, which consisted of a net loss of $14.7 million,
adjusted for non-cash charges of $33.6 million and net cash inflows of $17.0 million provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash
charges primarily consisted of $8.7 million of amortization of deferred commissions, $6.6 million of depreciation and amortization of our capital assets and
$20.5 million of stock compensation expense, which was primarily incurred in conjunction with our IPO. Cash outflows from changes in operating assets
and liabilities primarily resulted from a $5.6 million increase in the total deferred commissions balance, a $4.1 million increase in the total accounts
receivable balance and a $7.0 million increase in prepaid and other assets. The increases in deferred commissions balance is due to the addition of new
customers and renewal of existing contracts during the period while the increase in accounts receivable is due to the timing of billings and collections
combined with growth in sales. The increase in prepaid and other assets is due to $3.0 million of advanced payroll funding and $3.4 million of additional
prepaid insurance policies for directors and officers. Cash inflows from changes in operating assets and liabilities primarily relate to a $36.3 million
increase in the total deferred revenue balance resulting from the sale of additional subscription services under our standard advanced invoicing practices
and a $13.0 million increase in the accounts payable balance due primarily to the timing of payroll payments combined with overall growth in the business.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2022 related to the purchase of property and equipment for $2.6 million as
we continue update our office space requirements and $2.3 million for the development of internal-use software as we develop new products and features,
including our recently announced SecurityCoach product. We also purchased $2.4 million of investments during the period.
Net cash used in investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2021 primarily related to the $11.3 million of net cash paid for the
acquisition of MediaPro Holdings, LLC, completed March 1, 2021, combined with $1.1 million and $1.1 million of capital expenditures for internal-use
software and the purchase of property and equipment, respectively.
Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2022 primarily related to $2.9 million of proceeds from the issuance of
common stock under the employee stock purchase plan and $2.2 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options, partially offset by $2.0 million of
taxes paid for the net share settlement of equity awards the vested during the period.
Net cash provided by financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2021 primarily related to $156.0 million of net proceeds received from
the issuance of common stock in connection with the IPO. These proceeds were offset by $6.8 million paid for taxes related to the net settlement of
restricted stock units and $1.2 million paid to repurchase shares of our common stock, prior to the IPO.
Commitments and Contractual Obligations
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There were no material changes to our commitments and contractual obligations during the six months ended June 30, 2022. Refer to Note 15
“Commitments and Contingencies” to the consolidated financial statements contained within this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further details.
Indemnification Agreements
Our subscription agreements generally contain standard indemnification obligations. Pursuant to these agreements, we will indemnify, defend and hold
the other party harmless with respect to a claim, suit, or proceeding brought against the other party by a third party alleging that our intellectual property
infringes upon the intellectual property of the third party, or results from a breach of our representations and warranties or covenants, or that results from
any acts of negligence or willful misconduct. The term of these indemnification agreements is generally perpetual any time after the execution of the
agreement. Typically, these indemnification provisions do not provide for a maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make.
However, in the past we have not been obligated to make significant payments for these obligations and no liabilities have been recorded for these
obligations on our consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2022 or December 31, 2021.
We also indemnify our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while the officer is or was serving at our
request in such capacity. The maximum amount of potential future indemnification is unlimited. However, our director and officer insurance policy limits
our exposure and enables us to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. Historically, we have not been obligated to make any payments for these
obligations and no liabilities have been recorded for these obligations on our consolidated balances sheet as of June 30, 2022 or December 31, 2021.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements and
notes to our financial statements, which were prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires us to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date
of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. By their nature, these estimates and judgments
are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty and actual results could differ materially from the amounts reported based on these estimates.
Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” of our consolidated financial
statements. Our critical accounting policies and our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial
statements are discussed in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10K for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with the SEC on March 10, 2022, and there have been no significant changes to these policies during the six
months ended June 30, 2022.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our consolidated financial statements contained within this Quarterly Report on Form 10Q for more information.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We have operations in the United States and internationally and we are exposed to market risk in the ordinary course of business.
Interest Rate Risk
Our cash and cash equivalents primarily consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments in money market funds, including overnight
investments. As of June 30, 2022, we had cash and cash equivalents of $315.5 million. The carrying amount of our cash equivalents reasonably
approximates fair value, due to the short maturities of these instruments. The primary objectives of our investment activities are the preservation of capital,
the fulfillment of liquidity needs, the fiduciary control of cash and investments and, to a lesser extent, funding innovation within the cybersecurity industry.
We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. Our investments are exposed to market risk due to fluctuations in interest rates, which
may affect our interest income and the fair market value of our investments. However, due to the short-term nature of the majority of our investment
portfolio, we do not believe an immediate 10% increase or decrease in interest rates would have a material effect on the fair market value of our portfolio.
We therefore do not expect our operating results or cash flows to be materially affected by a sudden change in market interest rates.
Foreign Currency Risk
The vast majority of our sales contracts are denominated in U.S. dollars, with a small number of contracts denominated in foreign currencies. A portion
of our operating expenses are incurred outside the United States, denominated in foreign currencies and subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates, particularly changes in the British Pound, Euro, Brazilian Real and South African Rand. Additionally, fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates may cause us to recognize transaction gains and losses in our consolidated statements of operations. We believe a hypothetical
10% change in foreign currency exchange rates applicable to our business would not have had a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
As the impact of foreign currency exchange rates has not been material to our historical operating results, we have not entered into derivative or hedging
transactions, but we may do so in the future if our exposure to foreign currency becomes more significant.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that, as of such
date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d)
of the Exchange Act during the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures
Our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or
our internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that
there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance
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that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making
can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of
some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in part
upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals
under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with
policies or procedures may deteriorate. Due to inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not
be detected.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
We are currently a party to, and may in the future be involved in, various litigation matters, legal claims, and government investigations. See Note 15
“Commitments and Contingencies” to the consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which is
incorporated herein by reference.
In addition, from time to time, we are involved in various other litigation matters and disputes arising in the ordinary course of business. We cannot at
this time fairly estimate a reasonable range of exposure, if any, of the potential liability with respect to these other matters. While we do not believe, at this
time, that any ultimate liability resulting from any of these other matters will have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position,
or liquidity, we cannot give any assurance regarding the ultimate outcome of these other matters, and their resolution could be material to our operating
results for any particular period.
Item 1A. Risk Factors
An investment in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider these risk factors, together with all of the
other information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes, before deciding whether to invest in our Class A
common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below may not be the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us
or that we currently believe are not material may also impair our business, financial condition and results of operations. If any of the risks actually occur,
our business, financial condition and results of operations, cash flows and prospects could be adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our
Class A common stock could decline, and you could lose part or all of your investment.
Risk Factor Summary
Our business is subject to a number of risks, including those outside of our control, that may adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations. These risks are discussed more fully below and include, but are not limited to:
Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Our limited operating history including a history of losses;

•

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and divert management’s attention;

We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods and could experience difficulties managing our future growth;
Our long-term focus on growth;
Our ability to attract new customers and retain our existing customers;
Failure to effectively develop and expand our sales and marketing capabilities or maintain successful relationships with our channel partners;
Our exposure to risks related to international operations and plans for future international expansion;
A network, systems or data security incident may allow unauthorized access to our network, systems or data or our customer’s data;
Our reliance upon Software-as-a-Service (“SaaS”), technologies from third parties to operate our business;
The delayed reflection of new sales in our results due to recognizing revenues over the term of our customer contracts;
We must maintain an effective system of internal controls over our financial reporting in order to produce timely and accurate financial statements
and comply with applicable regulations;
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•

The application of changes in complex accounting rules;

Risks Related to Our Platform and Products

•
•
•

Our ability to develop or acquire new products and/or provide successful updates, enhancements and features to our technology;
Interruptions or delays in the services provided by third-party data centers or internet service providers;
Failure of our platform and/or our products to perform properly;

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

•
•
•
•

An exposure to an infringement claim or a claim that results in a significant damage award;
Our ability to protect our proprietary rights;
Usage of open source software in our products;
Usage of third party technology and software in our platform and products;

Risks Related to Government Regulations and Taxation

•
•
•

Our failure to comply with evolving data privacy and other data related laws and requirements;
Our failure to comply with laws and regulations, including governmental export and import controls, economic sanctions or anti-boycott laws;
Adverse changes in tax laws or regulations in the various jurisdictions where we are subject to taxation;

Governance Risks and Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

•

The dual-class structure of our common stock, which has the effect of concentrating voting control with those stockholders who held our capital
stock prior to the completion of our IPO;

•
•
•

The volatility of the market price of our Class A common stock;
We have no intention of paying dividends in the foreseeable future;
Potential dilution to our existing stockholders due to the issuance of additional stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, or
our equity incentive and employee stock purchase plans;

Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions

•
•

Adverse economic conditions or reduced IT security spending; and
The unpredictability of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry
We have a limited operating history, which makes it difficult to forecast our revenues and evaluate our business and future prospects.
We have been in existence since 2010 and much of our growth has occurred in recent periods. As a result of our limited operating history, our ability to
forecast our future results of operations and model future growth is limited and subject to a number of uncertainties. We have encountered, and will
continue to encounter, risks and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly changing industries. Accordingly, we may be unable
to prepare accurate internal financial forecasts or replace anticipated revenues that we do not receive as a result of these risks and uncertainties, and our
results of operations in future reporting periods may be below the expectations of investors. If we do not address these risks successfully, our results of
operations could differ materially from our estimates and forecasts or the expectations of investors, causing our business to suffer and our stock price to
decline.
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We have generated significant net losses in the past, and we intend to continue to invest substantially in our business. As a result, we may not be able to
achieve or sustain profitability in the future.
While we generated net income of $3.3 million and $4.7 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022, respectively, we experienced net
losses of $11.8 million and $2.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and as of June 30, 2022, we had an accumulated
deficit of $168.4 million. Because the market for our platform and products has not yet reached widespread adoption, it is difficult for us to predict our
future results of operations. We expect our operating expenses to increase significantly over the next several years, as we continue to hire additional
personnel, particularly in sales and marketing, expand our operations and infrastructure, both domestically and internationally, and continue to develop our
platform and products. In addition to the expected costs to grow our business, we also expect to incur significant additional legal, accounting and other
expenses as a newly public company. If we fail to increase our revenues to offset the increases in our operating expenses, we may not achieve or sustain
profitability in the future.
We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods, and if we do not manage our future growth, our business and results of operations will be
adversely affected.
We have experienced rapid growth in recent periods and we expect to continue to invest broadly across our organization to support our growth.
Although we have experienced rapid growth historically, we may not sustain our current growth rates nor can we assure you that our investments to support
our growth will be successful. The growth and expansion of our business will require us to invest significant financial and operational resources and will
require the continuous dedication of our management team. We have encountered, and will continue to encounter, risks and difficulties frequently
experienced by rapidly growing companies in evolving industries, including market acceptance of our platform and products, adding new customers,
intense competition and our ability to manage our costs and operating expenses. Our future success will depend in part on our ability to manage our growth
effectively, and if we fail to do so, our ability to ensure uninterrupted operation of our platform and products, comply with the rules and regulations
applicable to our business and adequately address competitive challenges could be impaired. Any of the foregoing could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
We believe our long-term value as a company will be greater if we focus on growth, which may negatively impact our profitability in the near term.
Part of our business strategy is to primarily focus on our long-term growth. As a result, our profitability may be lower in the near term than it would be
if our strategy were to maximize short-term profitability. Significant expenditures on sales and marketing efforts, growing our platform and products and
expanding our research and development, each of which we intend to continue to invest in, may not ultimately grow our business or cause long-term
profitability. If we are ultimately unable to achieve profitability at the level anticipated by industry or financial analysts and our stockholders, our stock
price may decline.
If we do not expand our current customer base by attracting new customers and retaining our existing customers our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be harmed.
Since our customers tend to adopt our platform across their entire organization, to increase our revenues and achieve and maintain profitability, we
must expand our customer base by attracting new customers and retaining our existing customers. To attract new customers, we must drive a broader
awareness of the pervasive risks of social engineering. We will continue to invest in our inside sales force complemented by a channel strategy designed to
increase brand awareness and to enable us to reach new territories and acquire new customers. Numerous factors, however, may impede our ability to
acquire new customers, including our failure to recruit talented sales and marketing personnel and to retain and motivate our current sales and marketing
personnel, to develop or expand relationships with effective channel partners and MSPs, to successfully deploy products for new customers, to provide
quality customer support once deployed and to execute on our marketing strategies.
Further, our customers have no obligation to renew their subscriptions for our platform and products after the expiration of their contractual period,
which is typically one to three years, and, in the normal course of business, some customers have elected not to renew. In addition, our customers may
renew for fewer products, renew for
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shorter contract lengths or switch to a lower-cost subscription. If our customers do not renew their subscriptions, we could incur impairment losses related
to our deferred contract acquisition costs. It is difficult to accurately predict long-term customer retention because of our varied customer base and length of
our subscription contracts. Our customer retention and expansion may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including our customers’
satisfaction with our products, our customer support, our prices and pricing plans, our customers’ spending levels, mergers and acquisitions involving our
customers, competition and deteriorating general economic conditions.
Failure to effectively develop and expand our sales and marketing capabilities or maintain successful relationships with our channel partners could
harm our ability to increase our customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of our products.
Our ability to increase our customer base and achieve broader market acceptance of our platform and products will depend to a significant extent on
our ability to expand our sales and marketing operations and to maintain successful relationships with our channel partners. We plan to continue expanding
our direct inside sales force and engaging additional channel partners, both domestically and internationally. This expansion will require us to invest
significant financial and other resources and our business will be harmed if our efforts do not generate a corresponding increase in revenues. We may not
achieve anticipated revenues growth from expanding our direct sales force if we are unable to hire and develop talented direct inside sales personnel, if our
new direct inside sales personnel are unable to achieve desired productivity levels in a reasonable period of time or if we are unable to retain our existing
direct inside sales personnel.
In order to grow our business, we anticipate that we will continue to depend on our relationships with our channel partners who we rely on, in addition
to our direct sales force, to sell and support our products. We utilize channel partners to efficiently increase the scale of our marketing and sales efforts and
increase our market penetration to customers who we otherwise might not reach on our own. Our agreements with our channel partners are generally nonexclusive, meaning our channel partners may offer customers competitive products from different companies, and generally allow the channel partner to
terminate its agreements with us for any reason upon 30 days’ notice. For example, some of our channel partners also sell or provide integration and
administration services for our competitors’ products, and if such channel partners devote greater resources to marketing, reselling and supporting
competing products, this could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. If our channel partners do not effectively market and sell
our products, choose to use greater efforts to market and sell their own products or those of others or fail to meet the needs of our customers, our ability to
grow our business, sell our products and maintain our reputation may be adversely affected. The loss of key channel partners, our possible inability to
replace them or the failure to recruit additional channel partners could materially and adversely affect our results of operations. If we are unable to maintain
our relationships with these channel partners, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Our international operations and plans for future international expansion expose us to significant risks, and failure to manage those risks could
adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We derived 17.4% and 15.2% of our total revenues from international customers for the three months ended June 30, 2022, and 2021, respectively, and
17.1% and 14.6% for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. We are continuing to adapt to and develop strategies to address
international markets and our growth strategy includes expansion into various international jurisdictions, but there is no guarantee that such efforts will be
successful. We expect that our international activities will continue to grow in the future, as we continue to pursue opportunities in international markets.
These international operations will require significant management attention and financial resources and are subject to substantial risks, including but not
limited to:

•
•

greater difficulty in negotiating contracts with standard terms, enforcing contracts and managing collections and longer collection periods;

•

management communication and integration problems resulting from cultural and geographic dispersion;

higher costs of doing business internationally, including costs incurred in establishing and maintaining office space and equipment for our
international operations;
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•

risks associated with trade restrictions and foreign legal requirements, including any importation, certification and localization of our platform and
products that may be required in foreign countries;

•
•
•
•
•

greater risk of unexpected changes in regulatory practices, tariffs and tax laws and treaties;

•
•

foreign exchange controls or tax regulations that might prevent us from repatriating cash earned outside the United States;

•

unexpected costs for the localization of our services, including translation into foreign languages and adaptation for local practices and regulatory
requirements;

•

requirements to comply with foreign privacy, data protection and information security laws and regulations, and the risks and costs of
noncompliance;

•
•
•

greater difficulty in identifying, attracting and retaining local qualified personnel, and the costs and expenses associated with such activities;

compliance with anti-bribery laws;
heightened risk of unfair or corrupt business practices and of improper or fraudulent sales arrangements;
the uncertainty of protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;
general economic and political conditions or events in these foreign markets, including, but not limited to, sanctioned countries, governments and
industries around the world and other geopolitical uncertainty and instability, such as the ongoing geopolitical tensions related to Russia’s actions
in Ukraine, resulting sanctions imposed by the United States and other countries, and retaliatory actions taken by Russia in response to such
sanctions;
double taxation of our international earnings and potentially adverse tax consequences due to changes in the tax laws of the United States or the
foreign jurisdictions in which we operate;

greater difficulty identifying qualified channel partners and maintaining successful relationships with such partners; and
differing employment practices and labor relations issues.

As we continue to develop and grow our business globally, our success will depend in large part on our ability to anticipate and effectively manage
these risks. The expansion of our existing international operations and entry into additional international markets will require significant management
attention and financial resources. Our failure to successfully manage our international operations and the associated risks could limit the future growth of
our business.
A network, systems or data security incident may allow unauthorized access to our network, systems or data or our customers’ data, harm our
reputation, create additional liability and adversely impact our financial results.
Increasingly, companies are subject to a wide variety of attacks on their networks and systems on an ongoing basis. These attacks include, but are not
limited to, hacking, the use of phishing and other forms of social engineering, attempts to introduce malicious code (such as viruses, ransomware or other
malware) into the systems and networks used in our business, employee or contractor error or intentional acts, including theft or misuse, denial of service
or other brute force attacks, and sophisticated attacks perpetrated by nation-state and nation-state supported actors. Despite significant efforts to create
security barriers to such threats, it is virtually impossible for us to entirely mitigate these risks, in particular, as the frequency and sophistication of
cyberattacks increases. For example, cybersecurity researchers have observed increased cyberattack activity, and warned of heightened risks of
cybersecurity attacks, in connection with Russia’s actions in Ukraine. The security measures we have integrated into our internal networks and systems,
and into our platform and products may not function as expected or may not be sufficient to protect our internal networks, platform and products against
certain attacks. In addition, techniques used to sabotage or to obtain unauthorized access to networks in which data is stored or through which data is
transmitted change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a target. As a result, we may be unable to
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anticipate these techniques or implement adequate measures to prevent an electronic intrusion into our networks or systems, unauthorized access to, loss or
unavailability of, or unauthorized alteration, use or disclosure of data or other security breaches or incidents. This could lead to claims, litigation,
governmental audits and investigations and potential liability, damage our relationships with our existing customers and have a negative impact on our
ability to attract and retain new customers. We also may face difficulties or delays in identifying, remediating and responding to attacks and actual or
perceived security breaches and incidents. Further, with many of our employees and other personnel working remotely, the security risks we and our
service providers face are heightened.
As a well-known provider of products in the security awareness market, we may be a particularly attractive target for these or other forms of attacks
which may undermine confidence in our platform or products and result in damage to our reputation, negative publicity, loss of channel partners, customer
and sales, increased costs to remedy any problem and costly litigation. In addition, a security breach or incident impacting one of our key channel partners
or independent software vendors could result in the exfiltration of confidential corporate information or other data that may provide additional avenues of
attack.
Our customers’ storage and use of data concerning, among others, their employees, contractors, customers and partners is essential to their use of our
platform and products, which store, transmit and process customers’ proprietary information and personal information. If a security breach or incident
compromising the security of customer data were to occur or to be perceived to occur and the confidentiality, integrity or availability of our customers’ data
was disrupted or believed to have been disrupted, we could face claims by and incur significant liability to our customers and to individuals or businesses
whose information was being stored by our customers. In addition, a network, systems or other security breach or incident, whether or not impacting or
being perceived to impact the confidentiality, integrity or availability of our customers’ data, could result in the loss of customers and make it more
challenging to acquire new customers. Additionally, if a high profile security breach or incident occurs with respect to another SaaS provider, our
customers and potential customers may lose trust in the security of the SaaS business model generally, which could adversely impact our ability to retain
existing customers or attract new ones, potentially causing a negative impact on our business. Any of these negative outcomes could adversely impact
market acceptance of our products and could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may be required to expend significant capital and financial resources to protect against the foregoing threats and to alleviate problems caused by
actual or perceived security breaches or incidents. While we maintain insurance that may cover certain liabilities relating to security breaches or incidents,
subject to applicable deductibles and policy limitations, our insurance may be insufficient to cover all liabilities incurred, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, we cannot be certain that insurance coverage will continue to be
available to us on economically reasonable terms, or at all, or that any insurer will not deny coverage as to any future claim.
We rely upon SaaS technologies from third parties to operate our business, and interruptions or performance problems with these technologies may
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We rely on hosted SaaS applications from third parties in order to operate critical functions of our business, including platform delivery, enterprise
resource planning, customer relationship management, billing, project management and accounting and financial reporting. If these services become
unavailable due to extended outages, interruptions or because they are no longer available on commercially reasonable terms, our expenses could increase,
our ability to manage finances could be interrupted and our processes for managing sales of our platform and products and supporting our customers could
be impaired until equivalent services, if available, are identified, obtained and implemented, all of which could adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.
We recognize revenues from subscriptions over the term of our customer contracts, and as such, our reported revenues and related metrics may differ
significantly in a given period, and our revenues in any period may not be indicative of our financial health and future performance.
A substantial majority of our revenues are recognized over the term of our customer contracts. As a result, much of the revenues we report each quarter
a derived from contracts that we entered into with customers in prior periods.
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Consequently, a decline in new or renewed subscriptions in any quarter will not be fully reflected in revenue or other results of operations in that quarter
but will negatively affect our revenue and other results of operations across future quarters. Any increases in the average term of subscriptions would result
in revenue for those contracts being recognized over longer periods of time with less positive impact on our results of operations in the near term.
Accordingly, our revenue in any given period may not be an accurate indicator of our financial health and future performance.
The market in which we participate is competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be harmed.
The market for our platform and products is rapidly evolving and fragmented, and we expect competition to increase in the future. Although we
believe competitors who specifically attempt to manage the ongoing problem of social engineering are currently limited, a number of companies have
developed, or are developing, products that currently are, or in the future may be, competitive with our offerings. For example, certain larger enterprise
providers, such as Proofpoint, Mimecast and Cofense, all attempt to address human risk through a product offering that is often tied to other products and is
not given a singular focus. Nevertheless, competition continues to increase in the market segments in which we operate, and we expect competition to
further increase in the future. Larger competitors with more diverse product and service offerings may reduce the price of products or subscriptions that
compete with ours or may bundle them with other products and subscriptions. These competitive pressures may cause our subscription prices to decline for
a variety of reasons, including competitive pricing pressures, discounts, anticipation of the introduction of new products by competitors or promotional
programs offered by us or our competitors. As a result, as competition in our market increases, it could result in increased pricing pressure, decreased
revenue, increased sales and marketing expenses and loss of market share for us, any of which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
We may experience quarterly fluctuations in our results of operations due to a number of factors, including increasing variability in our sales cycles.
These fluctuations make our future results difficult to predict and could cause our results of operations to fall below analyst or investor expectations.
Our quarterly results of operations fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, many of which are outside of our control and may be difficult to predict,
including, but not limited to:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the level of demand for our platform and products;

•
•
•

credit or other difficulties confronting our channel partners;

•
•

system failures or actual or perceived security breaches;

the timing and success of new product introductions by us or our competitors or any other change in the competitive landscape of our market;
pricing pressure as a result of competition or otherwise;
the length and predictability of our sales cycle;
seasonal buying patterns for IT spending;
errors in forecasting the demand for our products, which could lead to lower revenues, increased costs or both;
increases in and timing of sales and marketing and other operating expenses that we may incur to grow and expand our operations and to remain
competitive;
adverse litigation judgments, settlements or other litigation-related costs;
changes in the legislative or regulatory environment, including with respect to privacy, data protection and security and enforcement by
government regulators, including fines, orders or consent decrees;
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
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•

costs related to the acquisition of businesses, talent, technologies or intellectual property, including potentially significant amortization costs and
possible write-downs; and

•

general economic conditions in either domestic or international markets, including geopolitical uncertainty and instability, such as the ongoing
geopolitical tensions related to Russia’s actions in Ukraine, resulting sanctions imposed by the United States and other countries, and retaliatory
actions taken by Russia in response to such sanctions.

Any one or more of the factors above may result in significant fluctuations in our results of operations. As we continue to focus on sales to larger
organizations, we expect our sales cycles to lengthen and become less predictable. You should not rely on our past results as an indicator of our future
performance. The variability and unpredictability of our quarterly results of operations or other operating metrics could result in our failure to meet our
expectations or those of analysts that cover us or investors with respect to revenues or other metrics for a particular period. If we fail to meet or exceed such
expectations for these or any other reasons, the market price of our Class A common stock could fall substantially, and we could face costly lawsuits,
including securities class action suits.
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls over our financial reporting, our ability to produce timely and accurate financial
statements or comply with applicable regulations could be impaired.
As a public company, we are subject to the reporting and corporate governance requirements of the Exchange Act, the listing requirements of Nasdaq
and other applicable securities rules and regulations, including the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) and the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and
internal control over financial reporting, we have expended and anticipate we will continue to expend significant resources, including accounting-related
costs, and provide significant management oversight. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls, or any difficulties encountered in their
implementation or improvement, could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of
our financial statements for prior periods. Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal controls also could adversely affect the results of
periodic management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting that we are required to include in our periodic reports that we will file with the SEC under Section 404 of the SarbanesOxley Act.
We are not currently required to comply with the SEC rules that implement Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and we are therefore not required
to make a formal assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting for that purpose. As a public company, we are required to
comply with certain rules, which require management to certify financial and other information in our quarterly and annual reports and provide an annual
management report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting commencing with our second Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Additionally, our independent registered public accounting firm is not required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting until after we are no longer an “emerging growth company”, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”),
which will occur on December 31, 2022. At such time, our independent registered public accounting firm may issue a report that is adverse in the event it is
not satisfied with the level at which our controls are documented, designed or operating. Ineffective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control
over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and other information, which would likely have a negative
effect on the market price of our Class A common stock.
The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources and divert management’s attention.
As a public company, we are subject to the reporting and corporate governance requirements of the Exchange Act, the listing requirements of Nasdaq
and other applicable securities rules and regulations. Among other things, the Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with
respect to our business, financial condition and results of operations and maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control
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over financial reporting. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more
difficult, time-consuming or costly and increase demand on our systems and resources, particularly after we are no longer an “emerging growth company”
as defined in the JOBS Act. In addition, as a public company, we may be subject to stockholder activism, which can lead to additional substantial costs,
distract management and impact the manner in which we operate our business in ways we cannot currently anticipate. As a result of disclosure of
information in the filings required of a public company, our business, financial condition and results of operations will become more visible, which may
result in threatened or actual litigation, including by competitors and other third parties. These new obligations and constituents will require significant
attention from our senior management and could divert their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We depend on our executive officers and other key employees, the loss of whom could adversely affect our business.
We believe that our success is substantially dependent on our ability to attract, retain and motivate the members of our management team and other key
employees throughout our organization. Although we have entered into employment agreements with our leadership team, our employees, including our
executive officers, work for us on an “at-will” basis, which means they may terminate their employment with us at any time. In particular, we depend on
the services of Stu Sjouwerman, our founder and Chief Executive Officer, who is critical to our future vision and strategic direction. We rely on our
leadership team in the areas of research and development, operations, security, marketing, sales, customer support and general and administrative functions.
If Mr. Sjouwerman or one or more of our key employees or members of our management team resigns or otherwise ceases to provide us with their service,
and if we fail to have in place and execute an effective succession plan for key executives, our business could be harmed.
In addition, because our future success is dependent on our ability to continue to refresh and enhance our library of differentiated security awareness
content and expand our platform features, we are heavily dependent on our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel with the requisite background
and industry experience to drive content creation and product development. As we expand our business domestically and globally, our continued success
will also depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified content development personnel capable of creating localized, culturally relevant security
awareness content, as well as to attract and retain qualified sales, marketing and operational personnel capable of supporting a larger and more diverse
customer base. The loss of the services of a significant number of our content, technology or sales personnel could be disruptive to our content and product
development efforts, which could harm our ability to retain existing customers and to expand our global customer base.
The nature of our business requires the application of complex accounting rules, including revenue and expense recognition rules, and any significant
changes in current rules, or interpretations thereof, could affect our financial statements and results of operations.
The accounting rules and regulations that we must comply with are complex and subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”), the SEC and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. Recent actions and public comments from the
FASB and the SEC have been focused on the integrity of financial reporting and internal controls over financial reporting. Many companies’ accounting
policies and practices are being subject to heightened scrutiny by regulators and the public. In addition, the accounting rules and regulations are continually
changing in ways that could materially impact our financial statements. We cannot predict the impact of future changes to accounting principles or our
accounting policies on our financial statements going forward, which could significantly affect our reported financial results and could affect the reporting
of transactions completed before the announcement of the change. Further, if we were to change our critical accounting estimates, our results of operations
could be significantly affected.
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Any future litigation against us could be costly and time-consuming to defend.
We may become subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of business, such as claims brought by our customers in
connection with commercial disputes or employment claims made by our current or former employees. Litigation might result in substantial costs and may
divert management’s attention and resources, which might seriously harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. Insurance might not
cover such claims, might not provide sufficient payments to cover all the costs to resolve one or more such claims and might not continue to be available on
terms acceptable to us (including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or co-insurance requirements). A claim brought against us that is
uninsured or underinsured could result in unanticipated costs, potentially harming our business, financial position and results of operations. In addition, we
cannot be sure that our existing insurance coverage and coverage for errors and omissions will continue to be available on acceptable terms or that our
insurers will not deny coverage as to any future claim.
Acquisitions, strategic investments, partnerships, or alliances could be difficult to identify, pose integration challenges, divert the attention of
management, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder value, and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We have in the past and may in the future seek to acquire or invest in businesses, joint ventures, products and platform capabilities, or technologies that
we believe could complement or expand our platform and product offerings, enhance our technical capabilities, or otherwise offer growth opportunities.
Any such acquisition or investment may divert the attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying, investigating and
pursuing suitable opportunities, whether or not the transactions are completed, and may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures.
Specifically, we may encounter difficulties integrating the businesses, technologies, platform and product capabilities, or operations of any acquired
companies, particularly if the key personnel of an acquired company choose not to work for us, their software is not easily adapted to work with our
platform, or we have difficulty retaining the customers of any acquired business due to changes in ownership, management or otherwise. Additionally, any
such transactions that we are able to complete may not result in the synergies or other benefits we had expected to achieve, which could result in
impairment charges that could be substantial. In addition, we may not be able to find and identify desirable acquisition targets or business opportunities or
be successful in entering into an agreement with any particular strategic partner. These transactions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity
securities or the incurrence of debt, which could adversely affect our results of operations. In addition, if the resulting business from such a transaction fails
to meet our expectations, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected or we may be exposed to unknown risks or
liabilities.
We may need to raise additional capital to expand our operations and invest in new products, which capital may not be available on terms acceptable to
us, or at all, and which could reduce our ability to compete and could harm our business.
While we expect that our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash provided by operating activities, available borrowings under our revolving line of
credit, and unbilled amounts related to contracted non-cancelable subscription agreements, which are not reflected on the balance sheet, will be sufficient to
meet our anticipated cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months, retaining or expanding our current levels of
personnel and product offerings may require additional funds. Our failure to raise additional capital or generate the significant capital necessary to expand
our operations, invest in new products or acquire complementary businesses and technologies could reduce our ability to compete and could harm our
business. Accordingly, we may need to engage in additional equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If we raise additional equity financing, our
stockholders may experience significant dilution of their ownership interests and the market price of our Class A common stock could decline. If we
engage in debt financing, the holders of debt may have priority over the holders of our Class A common stock, and we may be required to accept terms that
restrict our operations or our ability to incur additional indebtedness or to take other actions that would otherwise be in the interests of the debt holders.
Any of the above could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Our Revolving Credit Facility contains financial covenants and other restrictions on our actions that may limit our operational flexibility or otherwise
adversely affect our results of operations.
The terms of our Revolving Credit Facility include a number of covenants that limit our ability and our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things,
incur additional indebtedness, grant liens, merge or consolidate with other companies or sell substantially all of our assets, pay dividends, make
redemptions and repurchases of stock, make investments, loans and acquisitions, or engage in transactions with affiliates. These terms may restrict our
current and future operations and could adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs. In addition, complying with these
covenants may make it more difficult for us to successfully execute our business strategy, including potential acquisitions, and compete against companies
which are not subject to such restrictions.
A failure by us to comply with the covenants or payment requirements specified in our credit agreement could result in an event of default under the
agreement, which would give the lenders the right to terminate their commitments to provide additional loans and to declare all borrowings outstanding,
together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees, to be immediately due and payable. If debt under our Revolving Credit Facility were to be accelerated,
we may not have sufficient cash or be able to borrow sufficient funds to refinance the debt or sell sufficient assets to repay the debt, which could
immediately adversely affect our business, cash flows, results of operations, and financial condition. As of June 30, 2022, there were no amounts
outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility.
If we fail to enhance our brand cost-effectively, our ability to expand our customer base will be impaired and our business, financial condition and
results of operations may suffer.
We believe that developing and maintaining awareness of our brand in a cost-effective manner is critical to achieving widespread acceptance of our
existing and future products and is an important element in attracting new customers. Furthermore, we believe that the importance of brand recognition will
increase as competition in our market increases. Successful promotion of our brand will depend largely on the effectiveness of our marketing efforts and on
our ability to provide reliable and useful products at competitive prices. In the past, our efforts to build our brand have involved significant expenses. Brand
promotion activities may not yield increased revenues, and even if they do, any increased revenues may not offset the expenses we incur in building our
brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand, or incur substantial expenses in an unsuccessful attempt to promote and maintain our
brand, we may fail to attract new customers or retain our existing customers to the extent necessary to realize a sufficient return on our brand-building
efforts, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could suffer.
If we cannot maintain our company culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation, teamwork, passion and focus on execution that we believe
contribute to our success and our business may be harmed.
We believe that our corporate culture has been a contributor to our success, which we believe fosters innovation, teamwork, passion and focus on
building and marketing our platform and products. As we grow and develop the infrastructure of a public company, we may find it difficult to maintain our
corporate culture. Any failure to preserve our culture could harm our future success, including our ability to retain and recruit personnel, innovate and
operate effectively, attract new customers, retain existing customers and execute on our business strategy. Additionally, our productivity and the quality of
our products may be adversely affected if we do not integrate and train our new employees quickly and effectively. Any of these effects could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Our results of operations may be harmed if we are subject to a protracted infringement claim or a claim that results in a significant damage award.
A key tenet of our security awareness platform and products is the ability for our customers to perform simulated social engineering attacks on their
users as part of our comprehensive training program. These social engineering attacks, typically in the form of simulated phishing emails, often use actual
third-party names, logos, marks and other content in order to enhance the effectiveness of the simulation. Although we do not believe that the
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use of such names, logos, marks and other content for our customers’ internal training purposes infringes upon the trademark rights or other intellectual
property rights of others, some third parties have objected to such use in our training program. These third parties have sent requests or demands to remove
their names, logos, marks and other content from our platform and products, and some have initiated arbitration proceedings, alleging that such use causes
consumer confusion resulting in harm to their goodwill or reputation, infringes upon their trademark rights and copyrights, constitutes bad faith, or
otherwise creates actionable claims under the laws of certain jurisdictions.
From time to time, we also register domain names containing typos, third-party names or marks, or variations thereof, to be used in connection with
our simulated phishing emails. We register these domain names to serve a limited and specific purpose, and similar to the above-referenced simulated
phishing emails, we do not believe that the limited manner and purpose in which any such third-party names, marks and other content are used in the
registered domain names infringes upon their trademark rights or intellectual property rights. Some third parties have, however, sent a privacy service
request or initiated a proceeding to cease use of and/or transfer the domain containing their name, mark or variations thereof, including intentional typos.
We take a case-by-case approach when resolving these matters with the third parties. There is no assurance that legal actions will not result in the future
from objecting third parties.
Additionally, as our presence in the market expands, we may experience such requests or demands with increasing frequency. Any legal action,
regardless of their merit, may require us to expend significant financial resources and attention of management and other personnel, result in injunctions
against us that prevent us from using third-party names, logos, marks and other content on our platform and products, require us to pay monetary fees to
third parties and/or require transfer of the domain name registrations.
Furthermore, because any legal action would likely involve novel questions of law regarding simulated phishing activities for which there is very little
or no precedent to date, and, because the outcomes of any such actions may depend on questions of laws that may vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction,
both inside the United States and internationally, the outcomes of any such legal actions are uncertain and may ultimately vary widely based on where the
actions are brought. Any such outcomes may adversely impact our relationship with our customers, including prompting them to discontinue their business
relationship with us. From time to time, third parties have asserted, or may assert, claims of infringement, misappropriation or other violations of
intellectual property rights against us or our customers, with whom our agreements may obligate us to indemnify against these claims. Successful claims of
infringement by a third party may prevent us from offering certain products or features, or require us to develop alternate non-infringing technology, which
may require significant time, during which we may be unable to continue offering the affected products or solutions, required to obtain a license that may
not be available on reasonable terms, or at all or forced to pay substantial damages, royalties, or other fees. The occurrence of any of these results may
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If we fail to adequately protect our proprietary rights, our competitive position could be impaired and we may lose valuable assets, generate reduced
revenues and incur costly litigation to protect our rights.
Our success is dependent, in part, upon protecting our proprietary information and technology. We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights,
trademarks, service marks, trade secret laws and contractual restrictions to establish and protect our proprietary rights. However, the steps we take to
protect our intellectual property may be inadequate. We will not be able to protect our intellectual property if we are unable to enforce our rights or if we do
not detect unauthorized use of our intellectual property. Despite the precautions we have implemented, it may be possible for unauthorized third parties to
copy our products and use information that we regard as proprietary to create products that compete with ours. Some license provisions protecting against
unauthorized use, copying, transfer and disclosure of our products may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions and foreign countries.
Further, the laws of some countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States or the mechanisms for enforcement
of intellectual property rights in some foreign countries may be inadequate. To the extent we expand our international activities, our exposure to the
unauthorized use of our products and proprietary information may increase. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties
from infringing upon, or misappropriating, our technology and intellectual property.
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We rely in part on trade secrets, proprietary know-how and other confidential information to maintain our competitive position. Although we enter into
confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and consultants and enter into confidentiality agreements with the parties with
whom we have strategic relationships and business alliances, no assurance can be given that these agreements will be effective in controlling access to, and
distribution of, our products and proprietary information. Further, these agreements do not prevent our competitors from independently developing
technologies that may be substantially equivalent or superior to our products.
To protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect these rights. Litigation may be
necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights and to protect our trade secrets. Such litigation may be costly, time consuming and
distracting to management and may result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our
intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property
rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or diversion of management’s
attention and resources, may delay further sales, introductions of new products or implementation of existing products, may impair the functionality of our
products or may result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our products that may injure our reputation. In addition, we may be
required to license additional technology from third parties to develop and market new products, and we cannot assure customers we will be able to license
that technology on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. Our inability to license this technology may harm our ability to compete.
We use open source software in our products, which could negatively affect our ability to offer our products and subject us to litigation or other actions.
We use open source software in our products and may use more open source software in the future. From time to time, there have been claims
challenging the ownership of open source software against companies that incorporate open source software into their products. However, the terms of
many open source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that these licenses may be construed in a way that could impose
unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our products. As a result, we could be subject to lawsuits by parties claiming
ownership of what we believe to be open source software. Litigation could be costly for us to defend, potentially resulting in negative effects on our
business, financial condition and results of operations or require us to devote additional research and development resources to change our products. In
addition, if we were to combine our proprietary software products with certain open source software in a certain manner, we may, under their specific terms
and conditions, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software to the public. This would allow our competitors to create similar products
with less development effort and time. If we inappropriately use open source software, or if the license terms for open source software that we use should
change, we may be required to re-engineer our products, incur additional costs, discontinue the sale of some or all of our products or take other remedial
actions.
In addition to risks related to open source software license requirements, usage of open source software may lead to greater risks than use of third-party
commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or assurances of title or controls as to the origin of the software. Many
of the risks associated with usage of open source software, such as the lack of warranties or assurances of title, cannot be eliminated, and could, if not
properly addressed, negatively affect our business. We have established processes to help alleviate these risks, including a review process for screening
requests from our development organizations for the use of open source software, but we cannot guarantee that all of our use of open source software is in a
manner that is consistent with our current policies and procedures, or will not subject us to liability.
We incorporate technology from third parties into our platform and products, and our inability to obtain or maintain rights to the technology could
harm our business.
We license software and other technology from third parties that incorporate into, or integrate with, our platform and products. We cannot be certain
that our licensors are not infringing on the intellectual property rights of third parties or that our licensors have sufficient rights to the licensed intellectual
property in all jurisdictions in which we may offer our platform and products. In addition, many licenses are non-exclusive, and therefore our

60

Table of Contents

competitors may have access to the same technology licensed to us. Some of our agreements with our licensors may be terminated for convenience by
them, or otherwise provide for a limited term. If we are unable to continue to license any of this technology for any reason, our ability to develop and offer
our platform and products containing such technology may be negatively impacted. Similarly, if we are unable to license necessary technology from third
parties now or in the future, we may be forced to acquire or develop an alternative technology, which we may be unable to do in a commercially feasible
manner, or at all, and we may be required to use alternative technology of lower quality or performance standards. This may limit or delay our ability to
offer new or competitive products and increase our costs of production. As a result, our business and results of operations may be significantly harmed.
Additionally, as part of our longer-term strategy, we may open our platform and products to third-party developers and applications to further extend their
functionality. We cannot be certain that such efforts to grow our business will be successful.
Risks Related to Our Platform and Products
If we are not able to develop or acquire new products and/or provide successful updates, enhancements and features to our technology, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Our industry is marked by rapid technological developments and demand for new and enhanced products and features to address the evolving risks
associated with social engineering. In particular, cybersecurity threats are becoming increasingly sophisticated and responsive to the new security measures
designed to thwart them. If we fail to update our products, through internal development or acquisition, to address such threats, our business and reputation
will suffer. Our ability to increase revenues depends in large part on our ability to develop compelling new products to sell to new customers and to crosssell and upsell to our existing customer base. To do so, we must continue to invest in our technology and platform in order to create new adjacencies and
use cases. The success of any new product developments, enhancements, or features that we introduce depends on several factors, including the timely
completion, introduction and market acceptance of such enhancements, features or products and integration with our existing platform and products.
We may not be successful in either developing these modifications and enhancements or in bringing them to market in a timely fashion. Furthermore,
modifications to existing technologies will increase our research and development expenses. If we are unable to successfully enhance our existing products
to meet customer requirements, increase adoption and usage of our products or develop new products, enhancements and features, our business, financial
condition and results of operations will be harmed.
Interruptions or delays in the services provided by third-party data centers or internet service providers could impair the delivery of our platform and
products, expose us to litigation and negatively impact our relationships with customers, adversely affecting our business.
We host our platform using data centers provided by Amazon Web Services (“AWS”), a provider of cloud infrastructure services, and, therefore, we
are vulnerable to service interruptions at AWS, which could impact the ability of our customers to access our platform. All of our products reside on
hardware in these locations. Our operations depend on protecting the virtual cloud infrastructure hosted at AWS by maintaining its configuration,
architecture and interconnection specifications, as well as the information stored in these virtual data centers, which third-party internet service providers
transmit. Although we have disaster recovery plans that utilize multiple AWS locations, any incident affecting their infrastructure that may be caused by
fire, flood, severe storm, earthquake, power loss, telecommunications failures, unauthorized intrusion, computer viruses and disabling devices, hacking and
other security attacks, natural disasters, war, criminal acts, military actions, terrorist attacks and other similar events beyond our control could negatively
affect the security or availability of our platform and products. A prolonged AWS service disruption affecting our platform and products for any reason
could damage our reputation with current and potential customers, expose us to liability, cause us to lose customers or otherwise harm our business. We
may also incur significant costs for using alternative equipment or taking other actions in preparation for, or in reaction to, events that damage the AWS
services we use.
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AWS enables us to order and reserve server capacity in varying amounts and sizes distributed across multiple regions. AWS provides us with
computing and storage capacity pursuant to an agreement that continues until terminated by either party. AWS may terminate the agreement by providing
30 days prior written notice and may, in some cases, terminate the agreement immediately for cause upon notice. In addition, the failure of AWS data
centers or third-party internet service providers to meet our capacity requirements could result in interruptions or delays in access to our platform and
products or impede our ability to scale our operations. In the event that our AWS service agreements are terminated, or there is a lapse of service,
interruption of internet service provider connectivity or damage to such facilities, we could experience interruptions in access to our platform and products
as well as delays and additional expense in arranging new facilities and services.
If our platform and products fail to perform properly, our reputation could be adversely affected and our market share could decline, which could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our platform and products are inherently complex and may contain material defects or errors. In the future we may experience website disruptions,
outages and other performance problems. These problems may be caused by a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, human or software errors
or negligence, viruses, hacking and other security attacks, fraud, increased resource consumption from expansion or modification to our code and spikes in
customer usage. In some instances, we may not be able to identify the cause or causes of these performance problems within an acceptable period of time.
If we do not accurately predict our infrastructure requirements, our existing customers may experience service outages and our operations infrastructure
may fail to keep pace with increased sales, causing new customers to experience delays. We provide service level commitments under our customer
contracts, under which we guarantee specified availability of our platform and products. If we fail to meet these contractual commitments, we could be
obligated to provide credits for future service, or face contract termination with refunds of prepaid amounts related to unused subscriptions, which could
harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. In light of our historical experience with meeting our service level commitments, we do
not currently have any material liabilities accrued on our balance sheet for these commitments. Additionally, any defects in functionality or that cause
interruptions in the availability of our platform and products could result in:

•
•
•
•
•

loss or delayed market acceptance and sales;
breach of warranty or other contractual claims for damages incurred by customers;
loss of customers;
diversion of development and customer service resources; and
injury to our reputation;

any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the costs incurred in correcting
any material defects or errors might be substantial.
Risks Related to Governmental Regulations and Taxation
Complying with evolving privacy and other data related laws and requirements may be expensive and force us to make adverse changes to our business,
and failure to comply with such laws and requirements could result in substantial harm to our business.
Laws and regulations governing data privacy and protection, information security, the use of the Internet as a commercial medium, the use of data in
artificial intelligence and machine learning and data sovereignty requirements are rapidly evolving, extensive, complex and include inconsistencies and
uncertainties. Examples of recent and anticipated developments that have or could impact our business include the following:
•

The General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”), took effect in May 2018 and established several requirements applicable to the handling of
personal data of individuals in the European Economic Area (“EEA”). The GDPR is wide-ranging in scope and imposes numerous requirements
on companies that process personal data, including imposing accountability obligations requiring data controllers and
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processors to maintain a record of their data processing and implement policies and procedures as part of its mandated privacy governance
framework. It also requires data controllers to be transparent and disclose to data subjects how their personal data will be used, establishes rights
for individuals with respect to their personal data, including rights of access and deletion in certain circumstances, imposes limitations on retention
of personal data, establishes data breach notification requirements and sets standards for data controllers to demonstrate that they have obtained
valid consent for certain data processing activities.
•

The GDPR and substantially equivalent legislation in the United Kingdom (“UK”), also imposes strict rules applied to the transfer of personal data
out of the EEA, Switzerland and the UK to third countries deemed to lack adequate privacy protections (including the United States), unless an
appropriate safeguard is implemented, such as the Standard Contractual Clauses (“SCCs”), approved by the European Commission, or a
derogation applies. The Court of Justice of the European Union (“CJEU”), deemed the SCCs valid in July 2020. However, the CJEU ruled that
transfers made pursuant to the SCCs and other alternative transfer mechanisms must be analyzed on a case-by-case basis to ensure European
Union (“EU”) standards of data protection are met in the jurisdiction where the data importer is based, and concerns remain about the potential for
the SCCs and other mechanisms to face additional challenges. European regulators have issued guidance following the CJEU ruling that imposes
significant new requirements on transferring data outside the EEA and Switzerland, including under an approved transfer mechanism. On June 4,
2021, the European Commission issued new SCCs that account for the CJEU’s decision and other developments, which need to be put in place for
new contracts involving the transfer of personal data from the EEA and Switzerland to a third country as of September 27, 2021. The UK also has
adopted new standard contractual clauses to support personal data transfers out of the UK, which are required to be used in new arrangements as
of September 22, 2022. Complying with these obligations and applicable guidance could be expensive and time consuming, may require us to
modify our data handling policies and procedures and undertake additional measures, including new contractual negotiations, and may ultimately
prevent or restrict us from transferring personal data outside the EEA and the UK, which could cause significant business disruption.

•

The EU has proposed the Regulation on Privacy and Electronic Communications (“ePrivacy Regulation”), which, if adopted, would impose new
obligations on the use of personal data in the context of electronic communications, particularly with respect to online tracking technologies and
direct marketing.

•

In January 2020, the UK formally left the EU. The UK’s withdrawal from the EU, commonly referred to as “Brexit,” became effective December
31, 2020. The UK has implemented legislation that implements and complements the GDPR, and which provides for the implementation of GDPR
requirements, including those related to cross-border data transfer. In June 2021, the European Commission announced a decision of “adequacy”
concluding that the UK ensures an equivalent level of data protection to the GDPR, which provides some relief regarding the legality of continued
personal data flows from the EEA to the UK. Some uncertainty remains, however, as this adequacy determination must be renewed after four
years and may be modified or revoked in the interim. Further, on February 2, 2022, the UK’s Information Commissioner’s Office issued new
standard contractual clauses to support personal data transfers out of the UK. These standard contractual clauses became effective March 21, 2022.
We cannot predict how UK data protection laws or regulations may develop in the longer term, including those relating to data transfers. We may
be required to take steps to ensure the lawfulness of our data transfers and otherwise to address UK data protection law.

•

In January 2020, the California Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), took effect, providing California residents increased privacy rights and
protections, including the ability to opt out of sales of their personal information. Among other things, the CCPA requires covered companies to
provide new disclosures to California consumers and afford such consumers new rights with respect to their personal information, including the
right to request deletion of their personal information, the right to receive the personal information on record for them, the right to know what
categories of personal information generally are maintained about them, as well as the right to opt-out of certain sales of personal information. The
CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of action for certain data breaches that result in the loss of personal
information. This private right of action may increase the likelihood of, and risks associated with, data breach litigation.
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•

In November 2020, California voters also approved a new privacy law, the California Privacy Rights Act (“CPRA”). Effective January 1, 2023,
the CPRA imposes additional obligations on covered companies and will significantly modify the CCPA, including by expanding consumers’
rights with respect to certain sensitive personal information. The CPRA also creates a new state agency that will have authority to implement and
enforce the CCPA and the CPRA. The effects of the CCPA and the CPRA are significant. They increase our potential exposure to regulatory
enforcement and/or litigation and may require us to modify our data collection or processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs
and expenses in an effort to comply. Other U.S. states are considering, and in certain cases have adopted, similar laws, and the U.S. federal
government also is contemplating privacy legislation. Recently proposed and enacted state privacy legislation beyond the CCPA and CPRA may
add additional complexity, variation in requirements, restrictions and potential legal risk, require additional investment of resources in compliance
programs, impact strategies and the availability of previously useful data and could result in increased compliance costs and/or changes in
business practices and policies.

Global governments are considering implementing regulations that would restrict cross-border data processing. Additionally, global governments are
considering regulating artificial intelligence, machine learning and other technologies. These and other similar legal and regulatory developments could
contribute to legal and economic uncertainty, affect how we design, market, sell and operate our platform and products, how our customers process and
share data, how we process, transfer and use data, which could negatively impact demand for our platform and products. We may incur substantial costs to
comply with such laws and regulations, to meet the demands of our customers relating to their own compliance with applicable laws and regulations and to
establish and maintain internal policies, self-certifications, and third-party certifications supporting our compliance programs. Our customers may bind us
to certain obligations pursuant to the GDPR or other laws or regulations relating to privacy, data protection or information security, and we may be or
become bound by other contractual obligations relating to privacy, data protection or information security. In addition, any actual or perceived noncompliance with applicable laws, regulations, policies, certifications or contractual or other actual or asserted obligations could result in proceedings,
investigations or claims against us by regulatory authorities, customers or others, leading to reputational harm, significant fines, litigation costs and
damages. For example, if regulators assert that we have failed to comply with the GDPR or the UK’s legislation implementing the GDPR, we may be
subject to fines of up to EUR 20 million (or GBP 17.5 million) or 4% of our worldwide annual revenue, whichever is greater, as well as potential data
processing restrictions. Authorities have shown a willingness to impose significant fines and issue orders preventing the processing of personal data on
non-compliant businesses. Moreover, individuals can claim damages resulting from infringement of the GDPR and other European and UK data protection
laws. The GDPR also introduces the right for non-profit organizations to bring claims on behalf of data subjects. In addition to the foregoing, an actual or
alleged breach of the GDPR or other applicable laws, regulations or other actual or asserted obligations related to privacy, data protection or information
security could result in regulatory investigations, reputational damage, orders to change our use of data, enforcement notices, or potential civil claims
including class action type litigation. All of these impacts could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
We publish privacy policies and other documentation regarding our collection, processing, use and disclosure of personal information, credit card
information or other confidential information. Although we endeavor to comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection,
and information security, and our related policies, certifications, representations and documentation, we may at times fail to do so or may be perceived to
have failed to do so. Moreover, despite our efforts, we may not be successful in achieving or maintaining compliance if our employees or service providers
fail to comply with our policies, certifications, representations and documentation. Such actual or perceived failures can subject us to potential claims,
litigation and international, local, state and federal action if they are found or alleged to be deceptive, unfair or to misrepresent our actual practices.
We also collect information about cyber threats from open sources, intermediaries and third parties that we make available to our customers in our
industry publications. While we have implemented certain procedures to facilitate compliance with applicable laws and regulations in connection with the
collection of this information, we cannot assure you that these procedures have been effective or that we, or third parties, many of whom we do not control,
have complied with all laws or regulations in this regard. Failure by our employees, representatives,
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contractors, channel partners, agents, intermediaries or other third parties to comply with applicable laws and regulations in the collection of this
information also could have negative consequences to us, including reputational harm, government investigations and penalties. Although we take
precautions to prevent our information collection practices and services from being provided in violation of such laws, our information collection practices
and services may have been in the past, and could in the future be, provided in violation of such laws.
We are subject to laws and regulations, including governmental export and import controls, sanctions, anti-boycott regulations and anti-corruption
laws that could impair our ability to compete in our markets and subject us to liability if we are not in full compliance with applicable laws.
We are subject to laws and regulations, including governmental export controls, that could subject us to liability or impair our ability to compete in our
markets. Our products are subject to U.S. export controls, including the U.S. Department of Commerce’s Export Administration Regulations, and we and
our employees, representatives, contractors, agents, intermediaries and other third parties are also subject to various economic and trade sanctions
regulations administered by the U.S. Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”). Furthermore, U.S. export control laws and
economic sanctions prohibit the export and provision of certain cloud-based solutions to, and other transactions and dealings with, countries, governments,
entities and persons targeted by U.S. sanctions.
In connection with our March 1, 2021 acquisition of MediaPro Holdings, LLC (“MediaPro”), we identified potential violations related to limited
dealings by MediaPro in 2016 with Sudatel, a Sudanese telecommunications and internet service provider. As a condition of closing, MediaPro filed
voluntary self-disclosures with the OFAC and the Office of Antiboycott Compliance (“OAC”). OFAC issued us a cautionary letter but did not pursue any
penalties or take enforcement action. As of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the OAC case is pending. Although we have technical controls,
policies and procedures in place designed to ensure our compliance, there is no guarantee that we will not inadvertently provide our products and services,
including our publicly available online free tools, to persons targeted by U.S. sanctions, despite our reasonable efforts to prevent it.
If we or our employees, representatives, contractors, channel partners, agents, intermediaries or other third parties fail to comply with these laws and
regulations, we could be subject to civil or criminal penalties, including the possible loss of export privileges and fines. We may also be adversely affected
through reputational harm, loss of access to certain markets, government investigations or otherwise. Obtaining the necessary authorizations including any
required license for a particular transaction may be time-consuming, is not guaranteed and may result in the delay or loss of sales opportunities.
Various countries regulate the export and import of certain encryption technology, including through export and import permit and license
requirements, and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute our products or could limit our customers’ ability to implement our products in
those countries. Changes in our products or changes in export and import regulations may create delays in the introduction of our products into
international markets, prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our products globally or, in some cases, prevent the export or
import of our products to certain countries, governments, entities or persons altogether. Any change in export or import regulations, economic sanctions or
related legislation, shift in the enforcement or scope of existing regulations or change in the countries, governments, entities or persons or technologies
targeted by such regulations could result in decreased use of our products by, or in our decreased ability to export or sell our products to, existing or
potential customers with international operations. Any decreased use of our products or limitation on our ability to export or sell our products would likely
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are also subject to the FCPA, the UK Bribery Act 2010 (the “Bribery Act”) and other anti-corruption, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and
similar laws in the United States and other countries in which we conduct activities. Anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws, which have been enforced
aggressively and are interpreted broadly, prohibit companies and their employees, agents, intermediaries and other third parties from promising,
authorizing, making or offering improper payments or other benefits to government officials and others in the private sector. We leverage third parties,
including intermediaries, agents and channel partners, to conduct our business in the United States and abroad to sell subscriptions to our products and to
collect information about cyber threats. We and these
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third parties may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned or affiliated entities and we may
be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of these third-party business partners and intermediaries, our employees, representatives, contractors,
channel partners, agents, intermediaries and other third parties, even if we do not explicitly authorize such activities. While we have policies and
procedures to address compliance with the FCPA, Bribery Act and other anti-corruption, sanctions, anti-bribery, anti-money laundering and similar laws,
we cannot assure you that they will be effective, or that all of our employees, representatives, contractors, channel partners, agents, intermediaries or other
third parties have taken, or will not take, actions in violation of our policies and applicable law, for which we may be ultimately held responsible. As we
increase our international sales and business, our risks under these laws may increase. Noncompliance with these laws could subject us to investigations,
severe criminal or civil sanctions, settlements, prosecution, loss of export privileges, suspension or debarment from U.S. government contracts, other
enforcement actions, disgorgement of profits, significant fines, damages, other civil and criminal penalties or injunctions, whistleblower complaints,
adverse media coverage and other consequences. Any investigations, actions or sanctions could harm our reputation, business, financial condition and
results of operations.
Failure to comply with laws and regulations applicable to our business could subject us to fines and penalties.
Our business is subject to laws, rules, and regulations promulgated by various federal, state, local and foreign governmental agencies, including, but
not limited to, agencies responsible for monitoring and enforcing privacy, data protection and information security laws and regulations, employment and
labor laws, workplace safety, product safety, environmental laws, consumer protection laws, anti-bribery laws, import and export controls, economic
sanctions, federal securities laws and tax laws and regulations. Our business may also be subject, indirectly, to changes in laws, rules and regulations that
may affect our service providers’ businesses, as well, negatively impacting our ability to continue offering any of our affected products or solutions. In
certain jurisdictions, such laws, rules and regulations may be more stringent than they are in the United States. Actual or alleged noncompliance by us, our
employees, representatives, contractors, channel partners, agents, intermediaries or other third parties with applicable laws, regulations and requirements
could subject us to:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

investigations, enforcement actions and sanctions;
mandatory changes to our platform, products or business practices;
disgorgement of profits, fines and damages;
civil and criminal penalties or injunctions;
claims for damages by our customers or channel partners;
termination of contracts;
loss of intellectual property rights; and
temporary or permanent debarment from sales to government organizations.

In addition, responding to any action will likely result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources and an increase in
professional fees. If any governmental sanctions or enforcement actions are imposed, or if we do not prevail in any possible civil or criminal litigation, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.
In addition, we endeavor to properly classify employees as exempt versus non-exempt under applicable law. Although there are no pending or
threatened material claims or investigations against us asserting that some employees are improperly classified as exempt, the possibility exists that some
of our current or former employees could have been incorrectly classified as exempt employees.
Sales to government entities are subject to a number of challenges and risks.
A number of our customers are U.S., state or foreign government entities. Such entities may demand contract terms that are less favorable than
standard arrangements with private sector customers and may have statutory, contractual or other legal rights to terminate contracts with us or our partners
for convenience or for other reasons. Generally, the laws, regulations and policies that govern our ability to contract with government customers impose
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added costs on our business, and failure by us, our employees, representatives, contractors, channel partners, agents, intermediaries or other third parties to
comply with applicable regulations and requirements could lead to claims for damages, penalties, termination of contracts, loss of exclusive rights in our
intellectual property and temporary suspension or permanent debarment from government contracting. Any such damages, penalties, disruptions or
limitations in our ability to do business with the public sector could result in reduced sales of our products, reputational damage, penalties and other
sanctions, any of which could harm our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations.
In addition, as a vendor for government entities, we must comply with laws, regulations and policies governing such governmental bodies, including
those related to their cybersecurity practices. For example, the State of California Office of Information Security Phishing Exercise Standard (SIMM 5320A), released in October 2020, established specific requirements for California state entities and agencies to coordinate phishing exercises with the
California Department of Technology Office of Information Security and the California Cybersecurity Integration Center and other requirements for
execution. Other states and jurisdictions may adopt versions of this standard or consider other new cybersecurity or data protection measures in the future,
imposing additional compliance burdens on us and our customers.
Delaware law and provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws could make a merger, tender
offer or proxy contest difficult, thereby depressing the market price of our Class A common stock.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our
company more difficult, including the following:

•

our board of directors is classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms, and directors are only able to be removed from
office for cause;

•

certain amendments to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation require the approval of at least 66-2/3% of the voting power of the
outstanding shares of our stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class;

•

our dual class common stock structure provides pre-IPO stockholders with the ability to significantly influence the outcome of matters requiring
stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the shares of our outstanding capital stock;

•
•
•
•

our stockholders are only able to take action at a meeting of stockholders and are not able to take action by written consent for any matter;

•
•

certain litigation against us can only be brought in Delaware;

•

advance notice procedures apply for stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or to bring matters before an annual meeting of
stockholders.

our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting;
vacancies on our board of directors may be filled only by our board of directors and not by stockholders;
a special meeting of our stockholders may only be called by the chairperson of our board of directors, our Chief Executive Officer or a majority of
our board of directors;
our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established and shares of
which may be issued without further action by our stockholders; and

In addition, while we have opted out of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation contains similar provisions providing that we may not engage in certain “business combinations” with any “interested stockholder” for a
three year period following the time that the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless:
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•

prior to such time, our board of directors approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an
interested stockholder;

•

upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at
least 85% of the votes of our voting stock outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding certain shares; or

•

at or subsequent to that time, the business combination is approved by our board of directors and by the affirmative vote of holders of at least 662/3% of the votes of our outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.

Generally, a “business combination” includes a merger, asset or stock sale or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested
stockholder. Subject to certain exceptions, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with that person’s affiliates and associates, owns, or within
the previous three years owned, 15% or more of the votes of our outstanding voting stock. For purposes of this provision, “voting stock” means any class or
series of stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that any interested
stockholder who became an interested stockholder prior to our IPO and Mr. Sjouwerman and any of their respective direct or indirect designated transferees
(other than in certain market transfers and gifts) and any group of which such persons are a party do not constitute “interested stockholders” for purposes of
this provision.
Under certain circumstances, this provision will make it more difficult for a person who would be an “interested stockholder” to effect various business
combinations with our company for a three year period. This provision may encourage companies interested in acquiring us to negotiate in advance with
our board of directors because the stockholder approval requirement would be avoided if our board of directors approves either the business combination or
the transaction that results in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder. These provisions also may have the effect of preventing changes in our
board of directors and may make it more difficult to accomplish transactions that stockholders may otherwise deem to be in their best interests.
These provisions, alone or together, could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our company. These provisions
could also discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and to cause us to take other corporate
actions they desire, any of which, under certain circumstances, could limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our
Class A common stock, and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our Class A common stock.
Our amended and restated bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware and the federal district courts of the United
States as the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to choose the
judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.
Our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by
law, the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary
duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our stockholders, (iii) any action arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, or (iv) any other action asserting a claim that is governed by the
internal affairs doctrine shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, the federal district
court for the District of Delaware), in all cases subject to the court having jurisdiction over indispensable parties named as defendants. Our amended and
restated bylaws further provide that the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaints asserting a
cause of action arising under the Securities Act.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any of our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to this
provision. This exclusive forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum of its choosing for disputes with us or our
directors, officers or other employees,
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which may discourage lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and other employees. This exclusive forum provision will not apply to any causes of
action arising under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Further, the
enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other companies’ charter documents has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that
a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable. For example, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware recently
determined that a provision stating that U.S. federal district courts are the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising
under the Securities Act is not enforceable. However, this decision may be reviewed and ultimately overturned by the Delaware Supreme Court. If a court
were to find either exclusive forum provision in our amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional
costs associated with resolving the dispute in other jurisdictions, which could harm our results of operations.
Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.
As of December 31, 2021, we had U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $59.6 million and $41.8 million, respectively, and we had
a U.S. federal research and development credit carryforward of $2.7 million. Realization of these net operating loss and research and development credit
carryforwards depends on future income, and there is a risk that our existing carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income
tax liabilities, which could adversely affect our results of operations.
In addition, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” generally defined as a
greater than 50% change (by value) in ownership by “5 percent shareholders” over a rolling three-year period, the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change
net operating loss carryovers and other pre-change tax attributes, such as research and development credits, to offset its post-change income or taxes may
be limited. We may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of shifts in our stock ownership. As a result, if we earn net taxable income, our
ability to use our pre-change net operating loss carryforwards to offset U.S. federal taxable income may be subject to limitations, which could potentially
result in increased future tax liability to us.
Changes in tax laws or regulations in the various tax jurisdictions we are subject to that are applied adversely to us or our customers could increase the
costs of our products and harm our business.
New income, sales, use or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or ordinances could be enacted at any time. Those enactments could harm our
domestic and international business operations, and our business and financial performance. Further, existing tax laws, statutes, rules, regulations or
ordinances could be interpreted, changed, modified or applied adversely to us. These events could require us or our customers to pay additional tax
amounts on a prospective or retroactive basis, as well as require us or our customers to pay fines and/or penalties and interest for past amounts deemed to
be due. Additionally, new, changed, modified or newly interpreted or applied tax laws could increase our customers’ and our compliance, operating and
other costs, as well as the costs of our products. Further, these events could decrease the capital we have available to operate our business. Any or all of
these events could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our business may be subject to additional obligations to collect and remit sales tax and other taxes, and we may be subject to tax liability for past sales.
Any successful action by state, foreign or other authorities to collect additional or past sales tax could harm our business.
States and some local taxing jurisdictions have differing rules and regulations governing sales and use taxes, and these rules and regulations are subject
to varying interpretations that may change over time. In particular, the applicability of sales taxes to our platform and products in various jurisdictions is
unclear. It is possible that we could face sales tax audits and that our liability for these taxes could exceed our estimates as state tax authorities could still
assert that we are obligated to collect additional amounts as taxes from our customers and remit those taxes to those authorities. Liability for past taxes may
also include substantial interest and penalty charges. Any successful action by state, foreign or other authorities to compel us to collect and remit sales, use
or other taxes, either retroactively, prospectively or both, could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.

69

Table of Contents

We are a multinational organization faced with increasingly complex tax issues in many jurisdictions, and we could be obligated to pay additional taxes
in various jurisdictions.
As a multinational organization, we may be subject to taxation in several jurisdictions around the world with increasingly complex tax laws, the application
of which can be uncertain. The amount of taxes we pay in these jurisdictions could increase substantially as a result of changes in the applicable tax
principles, including increased tax rates, new tax laws or revised interpretations of existing tax laws and precedents, which could have a material adverse
effect on our liquidity and results of operations. Furthermore, one or more jurisdictions in which we do not believe we are currently subject to tax payment,
withholding or filing requirements could assert that we are subject to such requirements. Any of these claims or assertions could have a material impact on
our financial condition and results of operations.
Risks Related to Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock
The dual-class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with those stockholders who held our capital stock prior to
the completion of our IPO, which will limit your ability to influence the outcome of important transactions, including a change in control.
Our Class B common stock has ten votes per share, and our Class A common stock, has one vote per share. Because of the ten-to-one voting ratio
between our Class B common stock and Class A common stock, as of June 30, 2022, the holders of our Class B common stock collectively held
approximately 93.3% of the combined voting power of our outstanding capital and will therefore, if acting together, be able to control all matters submitted
to our stockholders for approval until the earlier of the fifth anniversary of the filing and effectiveness of our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation or the affirmative vote of the holders of 66-2/3% of the voting power of our outstanding Class B common stock. This concentrated control
will limit or preclude a potential investor’s ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational
documents, and any merger, consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets or other major corporate transactions requiring stockholder approval.
In addition, this may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our capital stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one
of our stockholders.
Future transfers by holders of shares of our Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to
limited exceptions, including but not limited to, transfers effected for estate planning purposes and transfers among affiliates, to the extent the transferee
continues to remain an affiliate. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A common stock will have the effect, over time, of increasing the
relative voting power of those individual holders of Class B common stock who retain their shares in the long term.
The market price of our Class A common stock may be volatile, and you could lose all or part of your investment.
The market price of our Class A common stock could be subject to fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our control
and could cause you to lose all or part of your investment in our Class A common stock. Factors that could cause fluctuations in the market price of our
Class A common stock include the following:

•
•
•
•
•

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market from time to time;
volatility in the market prices and trading volumes of technology stocks;
changes in operating performance and stock market valuations of other technology companies generally, or those in our industry in particular;
sales of shares of our Class A common stock by us or our stockholders;
failure of securities analysts to maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts who follow our company or our
failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the financial projections we may provide to the public, any changes in those projections or our failure to meet those projections;
announcements by us or our competitors of new offerings or platform features;
the public’s reaction to our press releases, other public announcements and filings with the SEC;
rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;
short selling of our Class A common stock or related derivative securities;
actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations in our results of operations;
actual or anticipated developments in our business, our competitors’ businesses or the competitive landscape generally;
announced or completed acquisitions of businesses, offerings or technologies by us or our competitors;
developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;
litigation involving us, our industry or both, or investigations by regulators into our operations or those of our competitors;
new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;
system failures or actual or perceived privacy or security incidents;
changes in accounting standards, policies, guidelines, interpretations or principles;
any significant change in our management; and
general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets.

In addition, the stock market has experienced substantial price and volume volatility that is often seemingly unrelated to the operating performance of
particular companies. These broad market fluctuations may cause the trading price of our Class A common stock to decline. Furthermore, the trading price
of our Class A common stock may be adversely affected by third-parties trying to drive down the price. In addition, in the past, following periods of
volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against
these companies. This litigation, if instituted against us, would result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.
We are an “emerging growth company” and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies will
make our Class A common stock less attractive to investors.
For so long as we remain an “emerging growth company” as defined in the JOBS Act, we may take advantage of certain exemptions from various
requirements that are applicable to public companies that are not “emerging growth companies,” including, but not limited to, not being required to comply
with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our
periodic reports and proxy statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We cannot predict if investors will find our Class A common stock less
attractive because we may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active
trading market for our Class A common stock and our stock price may be more volatile. We expect to lose our “emerging growth company” status as of
December 31, 2022.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about us, our business or our market, or if they
change their recommendations regarding our Class A common stock adversely, the market price and trading volume of our Class A common stock
could decline.
The trading market for our Class A common stock depends, in part, on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us, our
business, our market or our competitors. The analysts’ estimates are based upon their own opinions and are often different from our estimates or
expectations. If any of the analysts who cover
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us change their recommendation regarding our Class A common stock adversely, provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors
or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the price of our securities would likely decline. If few securities analysts commence
coverage of us, or if one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial
markets and demand for our securities could decrease, which could cause the price and trading volume of our Class A common stock to decline.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.
We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business, and we do not expect to declare or pay any
dividends in the foreseeable future. In addition, our Revolving Credit Facility contains restrictions on our ability to pay dividends. As a result, stockholders
must rely on sales of their Class A common stock after price appreciation as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment.
The issuance of additional stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our equity incentive plans or otherwise will dilute all other
stockholders.
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation authorizes us to issue up to 1,000,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, up to 500,000,000
shares of Class B common stock and up to 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock with such rights and preferences as may be determined by our board of
directors. Subject to compliance with applicable rules and regulations, we may issue shares of Class A common stock or securities convertible into shares
of our Class A common stock from time to time in connection with a financing, acquisition, investment, our equity incentive plans, or otherwise. Any such
issuance could result in substantial dilution to our existing stockholders and cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline.
We cannot predict the impact our dual class structure may have on the market price of our Class A common stock.
We cannot predict whether our dual class structure will result in a lower or more volatile market price of our Class A common stock or in adverse
publicity or other adverse consequences. For example, certain index providers have restrictions on including companies with multiple-class share structures
in certain of their indexes. In July 2017, FTSE Russell and Standard & Poor’s announced that they would cease to allow most newly public companies
utilizing dual or multi-class capital structures to be included in their indices. Affected indices include the Russell 2000 and the S&P 500, S&P MidCap 400
and S&P SmallCap 600, which together make up the S&P Composite 1500. Under these policies, our dual class capital structure would make us ineligible
for inclusion in certain indices, and as a result, mutual funds, exchange-traded funds and other investment vehicles that attempt to passively track those
indices will not be investing in our stock. Because of our dual class structure, we will likely be excluded from certain of these indexes and we cannot assure
you that other stock indexes will not take similar actions. Given the sustained flow of investment funds into passive strategies that seek to track certain
indexes, exclusion from stock indexes would likely preclude investment by many of these funds and could make our Class A common stock less attractive
to other investors. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected.
Risks Related to Macroeconomic Conditions
Adverse economic conditions and reduced IT security spending may adversely impact our revenues and profitability.
Our operations and performance depend in part on worldwide economic conditions and the impact these conditions have on levels of spending on IT
networking and security solutions. Our business depends on the overall demand for these solutions and on the economic health and general willingness of
our current and prospective customers to purchase our platform and products. Weak economic conditions, including conditions resulting from financial and
credit market fluctuations, changes in economic policy, trade uncertainty, including changes in tariffs, sanctions, international treaties and other trade
restrictions, the occurrence of a natural disaster or global public health crisis, or armed conflicts, such as the ongoing geopolitical tensions related to
Russia’s actions in Ukraine, resulting sanctions imposed by the United States and other countries, and retaliatory actions taken by Russia in response to
such sanctions, and a reduction in IT security spending could materially and adversely affect our
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business, financial condition and results of operations in a number of ways, including by reducing sales, lengthening sales cycles and lowering prices for
our platform and products.
We are unable to predict with certainty the extent to which the global COVID-19 pandemic may continue to impact our business, financial condition or
results of operations.
The ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and efforts to mitigate its impact have caused social and economic disruption and financial market volatility. The
ultimate economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, including supply chain constraints, labor shortages, and inflation, as well as the effects of
government efforts to mitigate such impacts, have caused and may continue to cause volatility in financial and other capital markets, which may adversely
affect our stock price and our ability to access capital markets in the future.
We believe that the conditions caused by the pandemic have not significantly affected demand for our platform and products; therefore, although the
COVID-19 pandemic has caused us to experience, in some cases, longer sales cycles and an increase in certain prospective and current customers seeking
lower prices or other more favorable contract terms, we do not believe these developments have been substantial enough to cause a significantly negative
impact on our results of operations. Additionally, we have not seen significant negative impacts on collections of accounts receivable or attrition rates of
our customers. Conversely, the long term work-from-home policies, which have stemmed from the COVID-19 pandemic, have resulted in employees
accessing their companies’ systems remotely, which has increased cybersecurity, privacy and data protection risks for these companies and may lead to
heightened interest in our platform and products. There is no assurance that the levels of interest, demand and use of our platform and products will
continue or will not decrease in the future. Any such decrease could have an adverse effect on our growth and the success of our platform and products.
We may face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.
Today, our international contracts are sometimes denominated in local currencies; however, the majority of our international costs are denominated in
local currencies. Over time, an increasing portion of our international contracts may be denominated in local currencies. Therefore, fluctuations in the value
of the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies may affect our results of operations when translated into U.S. dollars. We do not currently engage in currency
hedging activities to limit the risk of exchange rate fluctuations. However, in the future, we may use derivative instruments, such as foreign currency
forward and option contracts, to hedge certain exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The use of such hedging activities may not
offset any or more than a portion of the adverse financial effects of unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates over the limited time the hedges are
in place. Moreover, the use of hedging instruments may introduce additional risks if we are unable to structure effective hedges with such instruments.
Catastrophic events may disrupt our business.
Natural disasters or other catastrophic events may cause damage or disruption to our operations, international commerce and the global economy, and
thus could harm our business. We have a large employee presence in Clearwater, Florida and the east coast of the United States is often subject to seasonal
hurricanes. In the event of a major hurricane, earthquake or other catastrophic event such as fire, power loss, telecommunications failure, cyber-attack, acts
of war, including Russia’s actions in Ukraine, or terrorist attack, we may be unable to continue our operations and may endure system interruptions,
reputational harm, delays in our application development, lengthy interruptions in our products, breaches of data security and loss, alteration or
compromise of critical data, all of which could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the insurance we maintain may
not be adequate to cover our losses resulting from disasters or other business interruptions.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
None.
Use of Proceeds
On April 26, 2021, our registration statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-254518) was declared effective by the SEC for the IPO of our Class A
common stock. There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our IPO from that described in our final prospectus filed pursuant to
Rule 424(b)(4) under the Securities Act and other periodic reports previously filed with the SEC.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
Not applicable.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information
Not applicable.
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Item 6. Exhibit Index
The documents listed below are filed with this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number
3.1
3.2
31.1

31.2

32.1+

101

104

Description
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant
Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrant
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange
Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange
Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal
Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
The following financial statements from the Company's Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2022,
formatted in Inline XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii)
Consolidated Statement of Operations, (iii) Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iv) Consolidated
Statements of Stockholders’ Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows, and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Provided
Herein

Form
10-Q
10-Q

File Number
001-40351
001-40351

Exhibit
10.9
3.1

Filing Date
May 26, 2021
May 26, 2021

X

X

X

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101).

________________
+ The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are deemed furnished and not filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not
to be incorporated by reference into any filing of KnowBe4, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after
the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
KnowBe4, Inc.
Date: August 4, 2022

By:

/s/ Sjoerd Sjouwerman
Sjoerd Sjouwerman
Chief Executive Officer & Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 4, 2022

By:

/s/ Bob Reich
Bob Reich
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Sjoerd Sjouwerman, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of KnowBe4, Inc.;
2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 4, 2022

By:

/s/ Sjoerd Sjouwerman
Sjoerd Sjouwerman
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT UNDER SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Robert Reich, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of KnowBe4, Inc.;
2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 4, 2022

By:

/s/ Robert Reich

Name:

Robert Reich

Title:

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Sjoerd Sjouwerman, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of KnowBe4, Inc. for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2022 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of KnowBe4, Inc.

Date: August 4, 2022

By:

/s/ Sjoerd Sjouwerman

Name:

Sjoerd Sjouwerman

Title:

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

I, Robert Reich, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of KnowBe4, Inc. for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2022 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that the information contained in such Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of KnowBe4, Inc.

Date: August 4, 2022

By:

/s/ Robert Reich

Name:

Robert Reich

Title:

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

